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  COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND 
DAMAGES 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 
 
an unincorporated political association, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, an individual, 
 
RO FOR CONGRESS, INC., 
 
a California corporation, 
 
ROHIT “RO” KHANNA, an individual, 
 
and DOES 1 through 10, 

Defendants. 

Case Number:   

       
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
AND DAMAGES FOR: 
 
1. Violation of the Computer Fraud and 

Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. §1030(a)) 
 

2. Violation of the Computer Fraud and 
Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. §1030(b)) 
 

3. Violation of the Economic Espionage Act 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 1832, et seq.) 

 
 

 
 
    JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Mike Honda for Congress files this Complaint against Defendants Brian Parvizshahi, 

Ro for Congress, Inc., and Rohit “Ro” Khanna, for they illegally obtained and used 

confidential, proprietary information belonging to Mike Honda for Congress.  As a 

result of their wrongdoing, the privacy of thousands of supporters of Congressmember 

Honda was violated.  Furthermore, they were personally pressured and intimidated by 

Defendant Khanna at a place that they had least expected:  their own email inbox.   

2. By illegally obtaining and using Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary 

information, Defendants violated the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S.C. 

§1030) and the Economic Espionage Act (18 U.S.C. §§1832, et seq.).   

3. Mike Honda for Congress seeks, inter alia, to stop Defendants from continuing to 

illegally use Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information, as 

well as to obtain legal redress for the harm that has been inflicted upon Mike Honda 

for Congress and its supporters. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff Mike Honda for Congress is an unincorporated political association with its 

principal place of business in Santa Clara County, California. 

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant Brian Parvizshahi works from a place of 

business located in Santa Clara County, California. 

6. Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., a California corporation that was incorporated in 

2011, conducts business from and maintains an office in Santa Clara County, 

California. 

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Rohit “Ro” Khanna is a resident of 

Alameda County, and works from a place of business located in Santa Clara County. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This action arises under 18 U.S.C. §1030 and 18 U.S.C. §§1832, et seq. in relation to 

Defendants’ unlawful actions.  Accordingly, this Court has federal-question 
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jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1331 and 28 U.S.C. §1343. 

9. All or most of the practices, events, and omissions alleged in this Complaint occurred 

in Santa Clara County.  Accordingly, venue is appropriate for the U.S. District Court 

for the Northern District of California, San Jose Division, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(b)-(c). 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The Race for California’s 17th Congressional District 

10. Congressmember Mike Honda represents California’s 17th Congressional District, an 

area that comprises a core part of Silicon Valley:  Cupertino, Sunnyvale, Santa Clara, 

Milpitas, Newark, and parts of San Jose and Fremont. 

11. In 2004, Defendant Khanna unsuccessfully ran for the U.S. House of Representatives 

against the late Congressmember Tom Lantos, who represented San Mateo County 

and a part of San Francisco County. 

12. In 2014, Defendant Khanna unsuccessfully challenged Congressmember Honda for 

his current seat. 

13. Because they were the top two finishers in California’s June 7, 2016 “Top Two” 

Primary, Congressmember Honda and Defendant Khanna advanced to the Nov. 8, 

2016 general election. 

14. Currently, Defendant Brian Parvizshahi is the Campaign Manager of Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc. (Defendant Khanna’s campaign). 

15. Defendant Parvizshahi joined Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. as Data Director in 

January 2014, and became Campaign Manager the following year. 

Defendant Parvizshahi’s Internship with Mike Honda for Congress’ Consultant 

16. On April 25, 2005, Mike Honda for Congress and Madalene Mielke entered into an 

agreement (the “Agreement”), whereby Ms. Mielke became the fundraising consultant 

to Mike Honda for Congress. 

17. Pursuant to the Agreement (art. VI), Mike Honda for Congress solely or jointly owned 
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all information (including fundraising and donor information) developed during the 

term of the Agreement.  All such information was deemed “confidential” and was 

required to be held “in absolute confidence”. 

18. Subsequently, Ms. Mielke founded Arum Group, LLC.  After Arum Group was 

incorporated, Ms. Mielke’s role as fundraising consultant under the Agreement was 

transferred to Arum Group.  Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Arum Group 

served as fundraising consultant to Mike Honda for Congress until December 2014. 

19. Alison Woodworth, Arum Group’s Finance Associate, hired and supervised interns 

during the relevant period. 

20. Ms. Woodworth hired and supervised three or four interns for Summer 2012.  One of 

those interns was Defendant Parvizshahi. 

21. Defendant Parvizshahi began what was intended to be his summer-long internship at 

Arum Group in May 2012. 

22. Like other Arum Group interns, Defendant Parvizshahi was required to sign an 

Internship Agreement, which contained a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) with 

respect to Arum Group’s confidential, client information. 

23. In relevant part, the Internship Agreement stated: 
 

1. You agree that you will not in any way discuss information obtained in 
connection with your position with the Arum Group outside of the 
Arum Group’s clients. 
 

2. You will treat any confidential or non-public information provided to 
you by the Arum Group as strictly confidential.  Any dissemination or 
discussion regarding such confidential information is prohibited with 
anyone outside of the Arum Group, unless permission to disseminate or 
discuss such information is granted.  This confidentiality requirement 
shall survive the termination of this agreement.1 

24. Defendant Parvizshahi was given access to some of Arum Group’s confidential client 

information.  That information included confidential, proprietary information 

belonging to Mike Honda for Congress. 

                                                 
1  Italics added. 
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Defendant Parvizshahi Gains Dropbox Access to Mike Honda for Congress’ Confidential, 

Proprietary Information 

25. Dropbox is a cloud (online) storage service that is frequently used for sharing and 

synchronizing files.   

26. Arum Group’s Alison Woodworth shared access of certain files within Arum Group’s 

Dropbox account by sending an “invitation” to the personal (i.e., non-Arum Group) 

email address of every intern, including that of Defendant Parvizshahi. 

27. Defendant Parvizshahi was given access to two Dropbox folders: (1) an Intern folder, 

and (2) a folder containing fundraising information relating to Mike Honda for 

Congress (hereinafter, the “Honda Folders”).  

28. During his internship, Defendant Parvizshahi disliked performing what he deemed to 

be menial tasks. 

29. On June 8, 2012, Defendant Parvizshahi abruptly resigned from his internship.  

30. After his last day at Arum Group, Defendant Parvizshahi’s access to Arum Group’s 

Dropbox account was inadvertently not withdrawn. 

31. Arum Group continued to serve as the fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for 

Congress until December 2014. 

The Uniqueness of Each Dropbox Account 

32. A Dropbox account is created using at least the following pair:  a person’s “username” 

and password. 

33. This access granted to the person using that username is unique. 

34. For example, suppose that one Dropbox account is created and then deleted, and later 

a second account is created with the same username.  In that scenario, the access to the 

shared data of the first account would not be accessible to the second account. 

35. Each Dropbox account has the ability to tie the account to an arbitrary number of 

computers.  Each computer would have an alias (nickname) assigned to it. 

36. Data on Dropbox is shared by means of “user permissions”.  For example, if 
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user1@example.com authorizes access to a shared folder (titled “SHARES”) to 

user2@example.com, user2 would be able to access all files in SHARES from all 

devices until that access is withdrawn by user1. 

37. Dropbox’s “Acceptable Use Policy” prohibits users from “violat[ing] the law in any 

way” or “even try[ing] to … violate the privacy or infringe the rights of others.”  See 

https://www.dropbox.com/privacy#acceptable_use (last visited Sept. 20, 2016). 

Sharing Information on Dropbox:  “Edited”, “Removed”, and “Added” 

38. In a shared Dropbox folder, all authorized users are granted access as “permissioned” 

(generally, read-only access or full access). 

39. Any changes to files are recorded on Dropbox as “In <Shared Folder Name>, <user> 

<action> <filename>.” 

40. There are three main types of “actions” that can be made to a Dropbox file.  A file can 

be “edited”, “removed”, or “added”. 

41. An “edited” action means that the file had a new (updated) version of itself uploaded 

to the shared location within the Dropbox account.  “Edited” often means that the file 

was last viewed by a user at the time the “edited” action was recorded on Dropbox. 

42. Notably, just because a file has been edited does not necessarily mean that the content 

of the file has changed.  Many files have additional “metadata” stored in them:  

information keeping track of edits, summary information, view information, and other 

information relating to the state of a document outside of the content itself. 

43. Such metadata is therefore much more volatile.  For example, changing a Word 

document from “Print” view to “Draft” view would constitute a change in state and 

would be saved and recorded on Dropbox even if nothing else occurred. 

44. A file that was “edited” was definitely opened by the Dropbox user.  More could have 

been done to the file; but the “edited” marker indicates, at a bare minimum, that the 

file was opened. 

45. A “removed” action means that the file was removed from the shared location within 
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the Dropbox account. 

46. An “added” action means that a new file was added to the shared location within the 

Dropbox account. 

47. From a forensic standpoint, Dropbox files labeled as “added” are the most interesting, 

for those files are the ones with which that person making the change spent the most 

time. 

48. If a Dropbox file shows an action of “added” and that file had existed before the 

“added” action occurred, it means that the file was (a) removed from the shared 

location within the Dropbox account, and then (b) was re-added (i.e., was moved 

back) to the shared location within the Dropbox account. 

49. This scenario most often occurs when someone has removed the file to another 

location (e.g., his or her desktop) – and then moved the file back to the shared location 

within the Dropbox account. 

Meaning of the “Desktop” Label in “Added” or “Edited” Actions 

50. When Dropbox shows that a file has been “added” or “edited”, a label of “Desktop” or 

“Website” appears on the same line.  That label (“Desktop” or “Website”) shows the 

source of the action that was taken.  

51. If the label is “Desktop”, hovering over this label will reveal the alias (nickname) of 

the computer used to make the edits. 

52. If more than one alias is seen, it means that (1) more than one computer was used to 

make the edits, and (2) the user had authorized a number of computers to access both 

his or her personal Dropbox account and, by extension, any shared folders tied to that 

account. 

Defendant Parvizshahi Accesses Mike Honda for Congress’ Confidential, Proprietary Data 

After Leaving His Internship With Mike Honda for Congress’ Consultant 

53. After leaving Arum Group, Defendant Parvizshahi continued to access the 

confidential, proprietary data belonging to Mike Honda for Congress. 
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54. During the relevant period, Defendant Parvizshahi accessed the Honda Folders from 

one of two computers:  one had the alias of “BrianParvi-PC”; the other had the alias of 

“BrianParvi”. 

55. Between Feb. 7, 2013 and Sept. 20, 2013, Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or 

in some way modified the Honda Folders at least a total of seven times:  three times on 

Feb. 7, 2013, once on Feb. 18, 2013, twice on June 23, 2013, and once on Sept. 20, 

2013. 

56. In that regard, copies of screenshots of each file that Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, 

“added” or in some way modified for the period Feb. 7, 2013 through Sept. 20, 2013 

are reprinted below: 
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Defendant Parvizshahi Accesses Mike Honda for Congress’ Confidential, 

Proprietary Data Throughout His Employment with Defendant Ro for Congress, 

Inc. 

57. Defendant Parvizshahi joined Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. as Data Director in 

January 2014, and became Campaign Manager in 2015. 
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58. After Jan. 2014 (when he began working for Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.), 

Defendant Parvizshahi continuously accessed the Honda Folders. 

59. Specifically, Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified 

individual documents within the Honda Folders at least forty-four (44) times.  Several 

documents were “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified more than once. 

60. In that regard, copies of screenshots of each file that Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, 

“added”, or in some way modified for the period Jan. 1, 2014 through June 14, 2015 

are reprinted below: 
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61. On June 15, 2015, Defendant Parvizshahi “edited” the Honda Folders for the last time. 

62. Copies of screenshots of each file that Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in 

some way modified on June 15, 2015 are reprinted below:  
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Defendant Khanna’s Email Accosting of Mike Honda for Congress Supporters 

63. Beginning Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, sixteen individuals contacted Mike Honda for 

Congress to report that Defendant Khanna had accosted Mike Honda for Congress 

supporters by directly emailing them on Oct. 3, 2015. 

64. In each of those emails – which were sent in at least four batches at 3:10, 3:14, 3:15, 

and 3:17 pm PT – supporters were asked if they “might have time for a call” to discuss 

Defendant Khanna’s race against Congressmember Honda. 

65. In each of those emails, Defendant Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal 

has convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Defendant Khanna’s email 

also contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of articles that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

66. At the time, Honda for Congress did not know Mr. Khanna and his campaign had 

obtained the names and current email addresses of its donors.  Those items are the 
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lifeblood of any successful fundraising (and political) campaign. 

67. The sixteen individuals who contacted Honda for Congress regarding Mr. Khanna’s 

email were likely the tip of the iceberg.  Namely, for every donor who contacted 

Honda for Congress, there likely were at least 50-100 donors who did not contact 

Honda for Congress. 

68. As of today, Honda for Congress has gathered Declarations from six supporters of 

Mike Honda for Congress regarding the emails that they received from Defendant 

Khanna on Oct. 3, 2015:  Garnetta Annable; Judy Bertelsen; Kalyn Free (who 

lives in Oklahoma); Fayzan Gowani (who has never resided in California’s 17th 

Congressional District); Washington State Senator Bob Hasegawa (who lives in 

Washington State); and Dale Minami. 

69. Between 3:10 pm and 3:17 pm PT on Oct. 3, 2015, each of the six supporters received 

an identical, blind-carbon-copied email from Defendant Khanna.  In fact, two of the 

supporters (Ms. Bertelsen and Ms. Free) received the email at the same time:  3:17 pm 

PT. 

70. Currently, one of the six supporters (Ms. Gowani) is not even listed in the Federal 

Election Commission’s (FEC) donor records.2  Another supporter (Ms. Annable) was 

not listed in the FEC’s donor records until May 28, 2016. 

Defendant Khanna’s Responses to Inquiries Regarding His Email Accosting of Mike Honda 

for Congress Supporters 

71. After being accosted by Defendant Khanna, Ms. Gowani asked, inter alia, Defendant 

Khanna how he had obtained her contact information:  “Also, please explain *how* 

you found my email.  I have never and do not plan on voting or campaigning for you, 

nor have I ever resided in your district.”3 

72. In an email (sent from his iPhone) on which Defendant Brian Parvizshahi was copied 
                                                 
2  Federal campaigns are required to report, to the Federal Election Commission, donations 
of more than $200 during an election cycle.  See 52 U.S.C. §30104(b)(3)(a); 11 C.F.R. §104.8(a).  
3  Italics added. 
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(on his private, non-campaign email), Defendant Khanna answered in relevant part 

and asked Defendant Parvizshahi to “make sure” that Ms. Gowani had been removed 

from the “friends list”: 
 
You were on a friends list as a prospect of someone who would find my campaign 
platform attractive as a next generation democrat.  … I am sorry you were 
included on this list and we will take you off per your request. 
 
Brian, please make sure of that. 

 

73. After being accosted by Mr. Khanna, Ms. Bertelsen told Mr. Khanna that she strongly 

supported Congressmember Khanna. 

74. One hour later, Mr. Khanna emailed her a response.  Among other things, he stated:  

“I hope over the years I will be able to earn your trust.” 

The Anonymous Release of a Document Containing Confidential, Proprietary Information 

Belonging to Mike Honda for Congress 

75. On Dec. 16, 2015, San Jose Inside published, online, a document containing 

confidential information of donors to Mike Honda for Congress.  That document 

included the donors’ names, preferred nicknames, employer information, personal 

telephone numbers, and preferred nicknames. 

76. According to Inside, that document had “arrived in the mail” from an anonymous 

source in early December 2015. 

The Discovery of the Data Breach 

77. On May 31, 2016, Randy Broz, the fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for 

Congress, received a notification from Dropbox that files in the “Honda” folder had 

been modified. 

78. In response, Sudip Dutta, then the Finance Director of Mike Honda for Congress, sent 

an email to Arum Group’s Madalene Mielke, the previous fundraising consultant for 

Mike Honda for Congress, to inquire about those Dropbox files.  

79. In response, Ms. Mielke sent an email to Mr. Dutta that same day.  In that email, Ms. 

Mielke stated that (1) Defendant Parvizshahi had previously been an intern for Arum 
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Group, (2) Defendant Parvizshahi had not been previously removed from the Dropbox 

access list with respect to the files of Mike Honda for Congress, and (3) upon 

discovering that inadvertent oversight, she had removed Defendant Parvizshahi’s 

name from the Dropbox access list. 

80. Subsequently, Michael Beckendorf, Campaign Manager of Mike Honda for Congress, 

requested access to the file from Ms. Mielke; and she provided him with access to the 

files in Dropbox.  Mr. Beckendorf began to examine the Honda Folders to determine 

what information had been exposed. 

81. In so doing, Mr. Beckendorf found that many files within the Honda Folders had 

timestamps noting that Defendant Parvizshahi had accessed and made edits to those 

files after he had left Arum Group, LLC and throughout the time when he was working 

for Ro for Congress, Inc. 

82. That same day (May 31, 2016), Mr. Beckendorf contacted Robert Eberhardt, Mike 

Honda for Honda’s opposition researcher, to assist in assessing the nature of 

information that had been compromised.  For this purpose, Mr. Eberhardt was given 

access to the Honda Folders. 

83. Mr. Beckendorf also asked Vedant Patel, Communications Director to Mike Honda for 

Congress, to assist in assessing the scope of the data breach. 

84. It became clear to Mike Honda for Congress that Defendant Parvizshahi had begun 

accessing confidential information belonging to Mike Honda for Congress after 

leaving Arum Group, and had continued accessing that information while working for 

Ro for Congress, Inc. 

85. After examining the Honda Folders, Mr. Beckendorf also discovered that a 

spreadsheet entitled “2012 2010 Crane Club Cycle Report.xls” matched perfectly with 

the donor document that had been anonymously provided to – and published by – San 

Jose Inside on Dec. 16, 2015. 

86. In response, Mr. Beckendorf promptly notified Congressmember Honda that 

Case 5:16-cv-05416   Document 1   Filed 09/22/16   Page 20 of 29



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 - 21 - 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
AND DAMAGES   

 

Defendant Parvizshahi had obtained access to the confidential, proprietary information 

of Mike Honda for Congress. 

87. In addition, Mr. Beckendorf sent an email to his Campaign Team at 4:48 pm on May 

31, 2016.  In that email, he notified the following members of Mike Honda for 

Congress that Defendant Parvizshahi had obtained access to the campaign’s sensitive 

donor information:  Vedant Patel (Communications Director); Raghu Devaguptpu and 

Rachel Irwin (AL Media); Adnaan Muslim and Mara Kunin (Mission Control, Inc.); 

David Mermin (Lake Research Partners); Robert Eberhardt (Stanford Caskey); and 

Mike Nellis and MaryCate Brower (Revolution Messaging). 

88. In that email, Mr. Beckendorf notified his Campaign Team that a significant amount 

of our campaign’s confidential fundraising had been compromised: 

Rob[ert Eberhardt] is currently through all the information that was 

exposed to the Khanna campaign leading [up to] [20]15. 

Safe to say that had access to EVERYTHING last cycle.4 

89. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Beckendorf received an email from Robert Eberhardt, Mike 

Honda for Congress’ Opposition Researcher.  In that email, Mr. Eberhardt stated:  

“Yeah, as Michael [Beckendorf] said, it looks like everything related to Mike Honda’s 

fundraising over the last years is in this folder that Brian [Parvizshahi] had access to.”5   

90. Among other things, Mr. Eberhardt stated that the Honda Folders contained personal 

contact information of the campaign’s large-dollar and small-dollar donors. 

The Donor Document Entitled “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls” 

91. As seen above, on March 7, 2014 Defendant Parvizshahi “edited” and “added” a donor 

file entitled “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls” (hereinafter, the “Donor 

Document”): 

 

                                                 
4  Capitalization in original. 
5  Italics added. 
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92. The Donor Document contains detailed donor information from 2008 to 2014, 

including but not limited to:  date of donation, amount, contact name, employer, 

occupation, city and state of residence, email, phone numbers.  As the first page of the 

document (at top left) shows, the Donor Document provides detailed information with 

respect to donations totaling to $3,500,594.11. 

93. In that regard, the Donor Document contained 9793 entries of confidential donor 

information, including that of the six supporters mentioned earlier:  Garnetta Annable; 

Judy Bertelsen; Kalyn Free; Fayzan Gowani; Washington State Senator Bob 

Hasegawa; and Dale Minami. 

The Harm Caused by the Data Breach and Defendant Khanna’s Accosting of Mike Honda 

for Congress Supporters:  Assessment Costs 

94. Mike Honda for Congress has suffered severe harm that was directly caused by the 

data breach and Defendant Khanna’s solicitation of our donors. 

95. Among other things, Mike Honda for Congress was forced to spend $5,109.36 in order 

to assess the extent to which the Honda Folders had been compromised. 

96. Specifically, Mr. Beckendorf devoted 60 hours (at his hourly rate of $53.12) 

conducting and compiling research, participating in conference calls, coordinating 

team strategy, and reaching out to donors.  That amount totaled to $3,187.50. 

97. Mike Honda for Congress’ Opposition Researcher Robert Eberhardt devoted 15 hours 

(at his hourly rate of $100) conducting and compiling research and participating in 

conference calls.  That amount totaled to $1,500.00. 

98. Mike Honda for Congress’ Communications Director Vedant Patel devoted 15 hours 
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(at his hourly rate of $28.12) conducting and compiling research, participating in 

conference calls, and developing press and communications strategy.  That amount 

totaled to $421.86. 

The Harm Caused by the Data Breach and Defendant Khanna’s Accosting of Mike Honda 

for Congress Supporters:  Harm to Rep. Honda’s Relationship with Supporters 

99. When it comes to fundraising, Congressmember Honda abides by a simple rule:  As a 

matter of respect, one should never solicit supporters of his or her opponent. 

100. Because it is costly to campaign across a highly populated metropolitan area, it is 

critical not only to convince supporters to donate, but also to encourage them to 

continue to donate up to the legally allowed limit. 

101. The data breach into Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary 

information has already irreparably harmed it in at least three serious ways. 

102. First, its supporters were harassed and intimidated, for Defendant Khanna 

accosted them at a place that they had least expected:  their email inbox.  In response, 

some donors may have reduced – or stopped altogether – their financial support for 

Mike Honda for Congress. 

103. Second, the data breach into confidential, proprietary information has 

compromised Rep. Honda’s relationships with supporters – which, in many cases, he 

has cultivated for years. 

104. Third, the data breach personally embarrassed Rep. Honda and harmed his 

reputation.  Not only were his supporters subjected to Mr. Khanna’s attacks upon 

Congressmember Honda, but the disclosure of confidential, proprietary information 

from the Honda Folders also resulted in adverse publicity for Rep. Honda. 

105. Unless all Defendants are ordered to return – and stop using – all information 

obtained from the data breach, Congressmember Honda’s campaign will continue to 

suffer irreparable harm. 

Defendants Have Directly Benefited from Their Wrongdoing 
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106. Each Defendant has directly benefited from their wrongdoing.  Defendant 

Pavizshahi parlayed his illegal access to the Honda Folders into his current, well 

compensated position as Campaign Manager in a high-profile Congressional race.  

Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. and Defendant Khanna used Honda for Congress’ 

confidential, proprietary information not only to harass and intimidate Mike Honda for 

Congress supporters, but to harm Congressmember Honda’s reputation and political 

standing. 

COUNT 1 

Computer Fraud and Abuse Act  

(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §1030(a)) 

Against Defendants Brian Parvizshahi and Ro for Congress, Inc. 

107. Mike Honda for Congress incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations.  

108. On February 7, 2013, February 18, 2013, June 23, 2013, February 18, 2014, 

February 19, 2014, February 25, 2014, February 26, 2014, February 28, 2014, March 

7, 2014, March 20, 2014, March 21, 2014, April 25, 2014, May 12, 2014, June 25, 

2014, September 25, 2014, October 23, 2014, November 3, 2014, March 2, 2015, June 

15, 2015, as well as on other dates currently unknown to Mike Honda for Congress, 

Defendants Parvizshahi intentionally accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ protected 

data stored in Arum Group’s Dropbox account for the purpose of obtaining Mike 

Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information. 

109. On February 18, 2014, February 19, 2014, February 25, 2014, February 26, 2014, 

February 28, 2014, March 7, 2014, March 20, 2014, March 21, 2014, April 25, 2014, 

May 12, 2014, June 25, 2014, September 25, 2014, October 23, 2014, November 3, 

2014, March 2, 2015, June 15, 2015, as well as on other dates currently unknown to 

Mike Honda for Congress, Defendant Parvizshahi and Defendant Ro for Congress, 

Inc. intentionally accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary 

information stored in Arum Group’s Dropbox account for the purpose of obtaining 
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Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information. 

110. Neither Defendant Parvizshahi nor his employer Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. 

had authorization or permission to access this account on the aforementioned dates in 

2013, 2014, and 2015.  

111. Defendant Parvizshahi used and abused his access (granted during his brief 

internship with Arum Group) to log into Arum Group’s Dropbox account.  During 

these sessions, Defendant Parvizshahi and Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. obtained 

confidential, proprietary information about Mike Honda for Congress’ past, current 

and potential donors and their financial data.   

112. Defendant Parvizshahi and Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. have utilized this 

confidential and proprietary client information for their own benefit, and to the 

detriment of Mike Honda for Congress.   

113. Defendant Parvizshahi’s and Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.’s actions, as 

described above, violate 18 U.S.C. §1030(a).  As a direct and proximate result of those 

actions, Mike Honda of Congress has been injured in an amount to be proven at trial.  

Accordingly, Mike Honda for Congress seeks all available compensatory and 

injunctive relief. 

COUNT 2 

Computer Fraud and Abuse Act:  Conspiracy 

(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §1030(b)) 

Against Defendants Brian Parvizshahi, Ro for Congress, Inc., and Rohit “Ro” Khanna 

114. Mike Honda for Congress incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations.  

115. Beginning approximately January 2014, Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna had an understanding, whereby (1) Defendant 

Parvizshahi obtained Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary information 

from the Arum Group’s Dropbox account, and (2) all three Defendants used that 

information for their benefit and to the detriment of Mike Honda for Congress, Inc. 
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116. Among other things, that collaboration between the Defendants enabled them to 

create what Defendant Khanna called a “friends list” – one that consists of supporters 

of Mike Honda for Congress.  In that regard, Defendant Khanna personally responded 

to inquiries from Mike Honda for Congress supporters regarding the “friends list”; 

and, as needed, directed Defendant Parvizshahi to remove certain Mike Honda for 

Congress supporters (like Fayzan Gowani) from the “friends list”. 

117. Defendants’ actions, as described above, violate 18 U.S.C. §1030(b).  As a direct 

and proximate result of those intentional actions, Mike Honda of Congress has been 

injured in an amount to be proven at trial.  Accordingly, Mike Honda for Congress 

seeks all available compensatory and injunctive relief. 

 COUNT 3  

Theft of Trade Secrets 

(Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1832, et seq.) 

Against Defendants Brian Parvizshahi, Ro for Congress, Inc., and Rohit Khanna 

118. Mike Honda for Congress incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations. 

119. On February 7, 2013, February 18, 2013, June 23, 2013, February 18, 2014, 

February 19, 2014, February 25, 2014, February 26, 2014, February 28, 2014, March 

7, 2014, March 20, 2014, March 21, 2014, April 25, 2014, May 12, 2014, June 25, 

2014, September 25, 2014, October 23, 2014, November 3, 2014, March 2, 2015, June 

15, 2015, as well as on other dates currently unknown to Mike Honda for Congress, 

Defendant Parvizshahi intentionally accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ protected 

data stored in Arum Group’s Dropbox account for the purpose of obtaining Mike 

Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information. 

120. On February 18, 2014, February 19, 2014, February 25, 2014, February 26, 2014, 

February 28, 2014, March 7, 2014, March 20, 2014, March 21, 2014, April 25, 2014, 

May 12, 2014, June 25, 2014, September 25, 2014, October 23, 2014, November 3, 

2014, March 2, 2015, June 15, 2015, as well as on other dates currently unknown to 
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Mike Honda for Congress, Defendant Parvizshahi and Defendant Ro for Congress, 

Inc. intentionally accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary 

information store in Arum Group’s Dropbox account for the purpose of obtaining 

Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information. 

121. On February 18, 2014, February 19, 2014, February 25, 2014, February 26, 2014, 

February 28, 2014, March 7, 2014, March 20, 2014, March 21, 2014, April 25, 2014, 

May 12, 2014, June 25, 2014, September 25, 2014, October 23, 2014, November 3, 

2014, March 2, 2015, June 15, 2015, as well as on other dates currently unknown to 

Mike Honda for Congress, Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., 

and Defendant Khanna conspired to intentionally access Mike Honda for Congress’ 

confidential, proprietary information stored in Arum Group’s Dropbox account for the 

purpose of obtaining Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary 

information. 

122. The confidential, proprietary information that was accessed contained, inter alia, 

trade secret data regarding past, current, and potential donors of Mike Honda for 

Congress. 

123. As such, that information derived independent economic value by not being 

generally known to the public and was subject to reasonable efforts to maintain its 

secrecy.  Arum Group’s Dropbox account was password protected, and Defendant 

Parvizshahi signed an Internship Agreement containing a non-disclosure agreement 

(NDA) as a condition of his internship with Arum Group.  The terms of that NDA 

survive to this day. 

124. Neither Defendant Parvizshahi nor Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. had 

authorization to access the data in Arum Group’s Dropbox account.   

125. Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna 

intended to use the trade secret data about Mike Honda for Congress’ past, current, 

and potential donors for their economic benefit.  
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126. Defendants’ actions, as described above, violate 18 U.S.C. § 1832, et seq., which 

provides for civil remedies under the Defend Trade Secrets Act (18 U.S.C. §1836). 

127. The aforementioned conduct of Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna unlawful conduct is continuing, and there is no 

indication that any of them will refrain from continuing such activity in the future.  If 

they are not enjoined from the conduct set forth in this Complaint, they will continue 

to violate federal law. 

128. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ willful and malicious actions, 

Mike Honda for Congress has been injured in an amount to be proven at trial.  Mike 

Honda for Congress seeks compensatory damages, exemplary damages, disgorgement 

of ill gotten gains (including campaign contributions), injunctive relief, and attorney’s 

fees. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Mike Honda for Congress requests the following relief: 

A. Compensatory damages; 

B. Exemplary damages; 

C. Injunctive relief, including but not limited to the return and destruction of all illegally 

obtained information and all ill gotten gains; 

D. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs; and 

E. All another relief that the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

 

Case 5:16-cv-05416   Document 1   Filed 09/22/16   Page 28 of 29



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 - 29 - 
COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
AND DAMAGES   

 

DATED:  Sept. 22, 2016 

BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION 

LAW, PC 

By:  

GAUTAM DUTTA, ESQ. 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 
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  NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd. # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
Fax:  213.405.2416 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 
 
an unincorporated political association, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, an individual, 
 
RO FOR CONGRESS, INC., 
 
a California corporation, 
 
ROHIT “RO” KHANNA, an individual, 
 
and DOES 1 through 10, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

 
 

NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION; 
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

HEARING DATE:  TBD 
HEARING TIME:  TBD 
JUDGE:  TBD 

    COURTROOM: TBD 
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 NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO THE COURT, THE PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

 Please take notice that, as soon as this matter may be heard before the assigned judge in 

the United States District Court for the District of Northern California, San Jose Division, located 

at 280 South First Street, San Jose, California  95113, Plaintiff Mike Honda for Congress will 

move this Court to issue a preliminary injunction (1) enjoining Defendant Brian Parvizshahi, 

Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Rohit “Ro” Khanna from violating, and 

continuing to violate, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act  (“CFAA”, 18 U.S.C. §1030); (2) 

enjoining Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna from 

continuing to use Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential and proprietary information that they 

have illegally obtained in violation of the CFAA, and (3) ordering Defendant Brian Parvizshahi, 

Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Rohit “Ro” Khanna to promptly disgorge and 

destroy all confidential and proprietary information that they have illegally obtained in violation 

of the CFAA. 

 Plaintiff’s Motion is based on this Notice of Motion and Motion, along with the 

accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities, Request for Judicial Notice, and the 

Declarations of Garnetta Annable, Michael Beckendorf, Judy Bertelsen, Robert Eberhardt, Kalyn 

Free, Fayzan Gowani, Hon. Robert “Bob” Hasegawa, Hon. Michael “Mike” M. Honda, 

Madalene Xuan-Trang Mielke, Dale Minami, Gautam Dutta, Bill O’Day, and Alison 

Woodworth. 
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DATED:  Sept. 22, 2016 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

By:  /s/ Gautam Dutta 
GAUTAM DUTTA, ESQ. 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. Introduction 

Unless the Court grants this Motion, Mike Honda for Congress will suffer irreparable 

harm – and the privacy of thousands of supporters of U.S. Rep. Mike Honda will continue to be 

violated – because Defendants Brian Parvizshahi, Ro for Congress, Inc., and Rohit “Ro” Khanna 

have illegally seized, used, and abused confidential, proprietary information belonging to Mike 

Honda for Congress.  In so doing, Defendants violated, inter alia, the Computer Fraud and Abuse 

Act (“CFAA”, 18 U.S.C. §1030). 

Time is of the essence.  The Nov. 8, 2016 election between Rep. Honda and Defendant 

Khanna will be held in a matter of weeks.  To date, confidential, proprietary information 

belonging to Mike Honda for Congress has been illegally released.  Equally troubling, potentially 

thousands of supporters of Mike Honda for Congress have been personally pressured and 

intimidated by Defendant Khanna at a place that they had least expected:  their own email inbox. 

The illegal data breach perpetrated by Defendants has already personally embarrassed 

Rep. Honda, compromised his relationship with supporters, and harmed his reputation.  Unless 

this Court swiftly intercedes, Mike Honda for Congress and thousands of Rep. Honda’s 

supporters will continue to suffer irreparable harm. 

II. Procedural Background 

 A. The Parties 

Plaintiff Mike Honda for Congress is an unincorporated political association with its 

principal place of business in Santa Clara County, California. 

Defendant Brian Parvizshahi works from a place of business located in Santa Clara 

County, California. 

Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., a California corporation that was incorporated in 2011, 

conducts business from and maintains an office in Santa Clara County, California. 

Defendant Rohit “Ro” Khanna is a resident of Alameda County, and works from a place 
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of business located in Santa Clara County.1 

 B. Jurisdiction and Venue 

This action arises under 18 U.S.C. §1030 and 18 U.S.C. §§1832, et seq. in relation to 

Defendants’ unlawful actions.  Accordingly, this Court has federal-question jurisdiction under 28 

U.S.C. §1331 and 28 U.S.C. §1343. 

All or most of the practices, events, and omissions alleged in this Complaint occurred in 

Santa Clara County.  Accordingly, venue is appropriate for the U.S. District Court for the 

Northern District of California, San Jose Division, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)-(c). 

III. Factual Background 

A. The Race for California’s 17th Congressional District 

Rep. Mike Honda represents California’s 17th Congressional District, an area that 

comprises a core part of Silicon Valley:  Cupertino, Sunnyvale, Santa Clara, Milpitas, Newark, 

and parts of San Jose and Fremont.2 

In 2004, Defendant Khanna unsuccessfully ran for the U.S. House of Representatives 

against the late Congressmember Tom Lantos, who represented San Mateo County and a part of 

San Francisco County.  In 2014, Defendant Khanna unsuccessfully challenged Congressmember 

Honda for his current seat.  Because they were the top two finishers in California’s June 7, 2016 

“Top Two” Primary, Congressmember Honda and Defendant Khanna advanced to the looming 

Nov. 8, 2016 general election.3 

Defendant Parvizshahi joined Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. as Data Director in January 

2014, and was promoted to Campaign Manager the following year.4 

B. Defendant Parvizshahi’s Brief Internship with Mike Honda for Congress’ 

Consultant 

On April 25, 2005, Mike Honda for Congress and Madalene Mielke entered into an 

                                                 
1  Dutta Decl. ¶¶3-6. 
2  Beckendorf Decl. ¶1. 
3  Beckendorf Decl. ¶¶5-7. 
4  Beckendorf Decl. ¶8 & Exh. 2. 
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agreement (the “Agreement”), whereby Ms. Mielke became the fundraising consultant to Mike 

Honda for Congress.5  Pursuant to the Agreement (art. VI), Mike Honda for Congress solely or 

jointly owned all information (including fundraising and donor information) developed during the 

term of the Agreement.  All such information was deemed “confidential” and was required to be 

held “in absolute confidence”.6 

Subsequently, Ms. Mielke founded Arum Group, LLC.  After Arum Group was 

incorporated, Ms. Mielke’s role as fundraising consultant under the Agreement was transferred to 

Arum Group.7  Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Arum Group served as fundraising 

consultant to Mike Honda for Congress until December 2014.8 

Defendant Parvizshahi began what was intended to be his summer-long internship at 

Arum Group in May 2012.9  Like other Arum Group interns, Mr. Parvizshahi was required to sign 

an Internship Agreement, which contained a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) with respect to 

Arum Group’s confidential, client information.10  In relevant part, the Internship Agreement 

stated: 
 

1. You agree that you will not in any way discuss information obtained in 
connection with your position with the Arum Group outside of the 
Arum Group’s clients. 
 

2. You will treat any confidential or non-public information provided to 
you by the Arum Group as strictly confidential.  Any dissemination or 
discussion regarding such confidential information is prohibited with 
anyone outside of the Arum Group, unless permission to disseminate or 
discuss such information is granted.  This confidentiality requirement 
shall survive the termination of this agreement.11 

Defendant Parvizshahi was given access to some of Arum Group’s confidential client 

information, including confidential, proprietary information belonging to Mike Honda for 

                                                 
5  Mielke Decl. ¶7. 
6  Mielke Decl. ¶7. 
7  Mielke Decl. ¶10. 
8  Mielke Decl. ¶11. 
9  Woodworth Decl. ¶21. 
10  Mielke Decl. ¶¶17, 27-29. 
11  Mielke Decl. ¶20 & Exh. 1 (italics added). 
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Congress.12 

C. Defendant Parvizshahi Gains Dropbox Access to Mike Honda for Congress’ 

Confidential, Proprietary Information 

Dropbox is a cloud (online) storage service that is frequently used for sharing and 

synchronizing files.13  Arum Group shared access of certain files within Arum Group’s Dropbox 

account by sending an “invitation” to the personal (i.e., non-Arum Group) email address 

of every intern, including that of Defendant Parvizshahi.14 

Defendant Parvizshahi was given access to two Dropbox folders: (1) an Intern folder, and 

(2) a folder containing fundraising information relating to Mike Honda for Congress (hereinafter, 

the “Honda Folders”).15  During his internship, Mr. Parvizshahi disliked performing what he 

deemed to be menial tasks.16 

On June 8, 2012, Defendant Parvizshahi abruptly resigned from his internship.  After his 

last day at Arum Group, Mr. Parvizshahi’s access to Arum Group’s Dropbox account was 

inadvertently not withdrawn.17  Arum Group continued to serve as the fundraising consultant for 

Mike Honda for Congress until December 2014. 

D. The Uniqueness of Each Dropbox Account 

A Dropbox account is created using at least the following pair:  a person’s “username” 

and password.18  This access granted to the person using that username is unique.19  For example, 

suppose that one Dropbox account is created and then deleted, and later a second account is 

created with the same username.  In that scenario, the access to the shared data of the first account 

                                                 
12  Woodworth Decl. ¶¶13, 20. 
13  O’Day Decl. ¶7. 
14  Woodworth Decl. ¶19. 
15  Woodworth Decl. ¶20. 
16  Woodworth Decl. ¶23. 
17  Woodworth Decl. ¶25. 
18  O’Day Decl. ¶11. 
19  O’Day Decl. ¶12. 
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would not be accessible to the second account.20 

Each Dropbox account has the ability to tie the account to an arbitrary number of 

computers.21  Each computer would have an alias (nickname) assigned to it.  Data on Dropbox is 

shared by means of “user permissions”.  For example, if user1@example.com authorizes access 

to a shared folder (titled “SHARES”) to user2@example.com, user2 would be able to access all 

files in SHARES from all devices until that access is withdrawn by user1.22 

Dropbox’s “Acceptable Use Policy” prohibits users from “violat[ing] the law in any way”, 

or “even try[ing] to … violate the privacy or infringe the rights of others.”23 

E. Sharing Information on Dropbox:  “Edited”, “Removed”, and “Added” 

In a shared Dropbox folder, all authorized users are granted access as “permissioned” 

(generally, read-only access or full access).24  Any change to a file is recorded on Dropbox as “In 

<Shared Folder Name>, <user> <action> <filename>.”25 

There are three main types of “actions” that can be made to a Dropbox file.26  A file can 

be “edited”, “removed”, or “added”.  An “edited” action means that the file had a new (updated) 

version of itself uploaded to the shared location within the Dropbox account.  “Edited” often 

means that the file was last viewed by a user at the time the “edited” action was recorded on 

Dropbox.27 

Notably, just because a file has been edited does not necessarily mean that the content of 

the file has changed.  Many files have additional “metadata” stored in them:  information keeping 

track of edits, summary information, view information, and other information relating to the state 

                                                 
20  O’Day Decl. ¶13. 
21  O’Day Decl. ¶14. 
22  O’Day Decl. ¶15. 
23  See https://www.dropbox.com/privacy#acceptable_use (last visited Sept. 20, 2016). 
24  O’Day Decl. ¶16. 
25  O’Day Decl. ¶17. 
26  O’Day Decl. ¶18. 
27  O’Day Decl. ¶19. 
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of a document outside of the content itself.28  Such metadata are therefore much more volatile.  

For example, changing a Word document from “Print” view to “Draft” view would constitute a 

change in state and would be saved and recorded on Dropbox even if nothing else occurred.29 

A file that was “edited” was definitely opened by the Dropbox user.  More could have 

been done to the file; but the “edited” marker indicates, at a bare minimum, that the file was 

opened.30 

A “removed” action means that the file was removed from the shared location within the 

Dropbox account.31 

An “added” action means that a new file was added to the shared location within the 

Dropbox account.32  From a forensic standpoint, Dropbox files labeled as “added” are the most 

interesting, for those files are the ones with which that person making the change spent the most 

time.33 

If a Dropbox file shows an action of “added” and that file had existed before the “added” 

action occurred, it means that the file was (a) removed from the shared location within the 

Dropbox account, and then (b) was re-added (i.e., was moved back) to the shared location within 

the Dropbox account.34  This scenario most often occurs when someone has removed the file to 

another location (e.g., his or her desktop) – and then moved the file back to the shared location 

within the Dropbox account.35 

F. Meaning of the “Desktop” Label in “Added” or “Edited” Actions 

When Dropbox shows that a file has been “added” or “edited”, a label of “Desktop” or 

“Website” appears on the same line.  That label (“Desktop” or “Website”) shows the source of 

                                                 
28  O’Day Decl. ¶20. 
29  O’Day Decl. ¶21. 
30  O’Day Decl. ¶22. 
31  O’Day Decl. ¶23. 
32  O’Day Decl. ¶24. 
33  O’Day Decl. ¶25. 
34  O’Day Decl. ¶26. 
35  O’Day Decl. ¶27. 
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the action that was taken.36 

If the label is “Desktop”, hovering over this label will reveal the alias (nickname) of the 

computer used to make the edits.37  If more than one alias is seen, it means that (1) more than one 

computer was used to make the edits, and (2) the user had authorized a number of computers to 

access both his or her personal Dropbox account and, by extension, any shared folders tied to that 

account.38 

G. Defendant Parvizshahi Accesses Mike Honda for Congress’ Confidential, 

Proprietary Data After Leaving His Internship With Mike Honda for Congress’ 

Consultant 

After leaving Arum Group, Defendant Parvizshahi continued to access the confidential, 

proprietary data belonging to Mike Honda for Congress.  During the relevant period, Defendant 

Parvizshahi accessed the Honda Folders from one of two computers:  one had the alias of 

“BrianParvi-PC”; the other had the alias of “BrianParvi”.39 

Between Feb. 7, 2013 and Sept. 20, 2013, Mr. Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some 

way modified the Honda Folders at least a total of seven times:  three times on Feb. 7, 2013, once 

on Feb. 18, 2013, twice on June 23, 2013, and once on Sept. 20, 2013.40  True and accurate copies 

of screenshots of each file that Mr. Parvizshahi “edited”, “added” or in some way modified for 

the period Feb. 7, 2013 through Sept. 20, 2013 have been reprinted in the accompanying 

Declaration of Robert Eberhardt (¶18). 

H. Defendant Parvizshahi Accesses Mike Honda for Congress’ Confidential, 

Proprietary Data Throughout His Employment with Defendant Ro for Congress, 

Inc. 

After Jan. 2014 (when he began working for Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.), Defendant 

                                                 
36  O’Day Decl. ¶28. 
37  O’Day Decl. ¶29. 
38  O’Day Decl. ¶30. 
39  Eberhardt Decl. ¶16. 
40  Eberhardt Decl. ¶17. 
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Parvizshahi continuously accessed the Honda Folders.  Specifically, Defendant Parvizshahi 

“edited”, “added”, or in some way modified individual documents within the Honda Folders at 

least forty-four (44) times.41  Several documents were “edited”, “added”, or in some way 

modified more than once.42  True and accurate copies of screenshots of each file that Defendant 

Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified for the period Jan. 1, 2014 through June 

14, 2015 are reprinted in the accompanying Declaration of Robert Eberhardt (¶20). 

On June 15, 2015, Defendant Parvizshahi “edited” the Honda Folders for the last time.43  

True and accurate copies of screenshots of each file that Defendant Parvizshahi “edited”, 

“added”, or in some way modified on June 15, 2015 are reprinted in the accompanying 

Declaration of Robert Eberhardt (¶22).  

I. Ro Khanna’s Email Accosting of Mike Honda for Congress Supporters 

Beginning Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, sixteen individuals contacted Mike Honda for Congress 

to report that Defendant Khanna had accosted Mike Honda for Congress supporters by directly 

emailing them on Oct. 3, 2015.44  In each of those emails – which were sent in at least four 

batches at 3:10, 3:14, 3:15, and 3:17 pm PT – supporters were asked if they “might have time for 

a call” to discuss Defendant Khanna’s race against Congressmember Honda.45 

In each of those emails, Defendant Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”46  Defendant Khanna’s email also contained, 

under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of articles that were critical of 

Congressmember Honda.47 

At the time, Honda for Congress did not know Mr. Khanna and his campaign had obtained 

the names and current email addresses of its donors.  Those items are the lifeblood of any 

                                                 
41  Eberhardt Decl. ¶19. 
42  Eberhardt Decl. ¶19. 
43  Eberhardt Decl. ¶21. 
44  Beckendorf Decl. ¶10. 
45  Hasegawa Decl. Exh. 2. 
46  Hasegawa Decl. Exh. 2. 
47  Hasegawa Decl. Exh. 2. 
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successful fundraising (and political) campaign.48 

The sixteen individuals who contacted Honda for Congress regarding Mr. Khanna’s email 

were likely the tip of the iceberg.  Namely, for every donor who contacted Honda for Congress, 

there likely were at least 50-100 donors who did not contact Honda for Congress.49 

As of today, Honda for Congress has gathered Declarations from six supporters of Mike 

Honda for Congress regarding the emails that they received from Defendant Khanna on Oct. 3, 

2015:  Garnetta Annable, Judy Bertelsen, Kalyn Free (who lives in Oklahoma), Fayzan 

Gowani (who has never resided in California’s 17th Congressional District), Washington State 

Senator Bob Hasegawa (who lives in Washington State), and Dale Minami.50 

Between 3:10 pm and 3:17 pm PT on Oct. 3, 2015, each of the six supporters received an 

identical, blind-carbon-copied email from Defendant Khanna.51  In fact, two of the supporters 

(Ms. Bertelsen and Ms. Free) received the email at the same time:  3:17 pm PT.52 

Currently, one of the six supporters (Ms. Gowani) is not even listed in the Federal 

Election Commission’s (FEC) donor records.53  Another supporter (Ms. Annable) was not listed 

in the FEC’s donor records until May 28, 2016.54 

J. Defendant Khanna’s Responses to Inquiries Regarding His Email Accosting of 

Mike Honda for Congress Supporters 

After being accosted by Defendant Khanna, Ms. Gowani asked, inter alia, Defendant 

Khanna how he had obtained her contact information:  “Also, please explain *how* you found 

                                                 
48  Beckendorf Decl. ¶14. 
49  Beckendorf Decl. ¶15. 
50  Annable Decl. ¶6 & Exh. 1; Bertelsen Decl. ¶6 & Exh. 1; Free Decl. ¶9 & Exh. 2, Gowani 
Decl. Exh. 1, Hasegawa Decl. ¶9, and Minami Decl ¶8. 
51  Annable Decl. ¶6 & Exh. 1; Bertelsen Decl. ¶6 & Exh. 1; Free Decl. ¶9 & Exh. 2, Gowani 
Decl. Exh. 1, Hasegawa Decl. ¶9, and Minami Decl ¶8. 
52  Free Decl. ¶9 & Exh. 2; Bertelsen Decl. ¶6 & Exh. 1. 
53  Eberhardt Decl. ¶¶31, 32.  Federal campaigns are required to report, to the Federal 
Election Commission, donations of more than $200 during an election cycle.  See 52 U.S.C. 
§30104(b)(3)(a); 11 C.F.R. §104.8(a).  
54  Annable Decl. Exh. 2. 
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my email.  I have never and do not plan on voting or campaigning for you, nor have I ever 

resided in your district.”55 

In an email (sent from his iPhone) on which Defendant Brian Parvizshahi was copied (on 

his private, non-campaign email), Defendant Khanna answered in relevant part and asked 

Defendant Parvizshahi to “make sure” that Ms. Gowani had been removed from the “friends list”: 
 
You were on a friends list as a prospect of someone who would find my campaign 
platform attractive as a next generation democrat.  … I am sorry you were 
included on this list and we will take you off per your request. 
 
Brian, please make sure of that.56 

 

After being accosted by Mr. Khanna, Ms. Bertelsen told Mr. Khanna that she strongly 

supported Congressmember Khanna.57  One hour later, Mr. Khanna emailed her a response.  

Among other things, he stated:  “I hope over the years I will be able to earn your trust.”58 

K. The Anonymous Release of a Document Containing Confidential, Proprietary 

Information Belonging to Mike Honda for Congress 

On Dec. 16, 2015, San Jose Inside published, online, a document containing confidential 

information of donors to Mike Honda for Congress.59  That document included the donors’ 

names, preferred nicknames, employer information, personal telephone numbers, and preferred 

nicknames.60  According to Inside, that document had “arrived in the mail” from an anonymous 

source in early December 2015.61 

L. The Discovery of the Data Breach 

On May 31, 2016, Randy Broz, the fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for Congress, 

                                                 
55  Gowani Decl. Exh. 1 (italics added). 
56  Gowani Decl. Exh. 1 (italics added). 
57  Bertelsen Decl. ¶10 & Exh. 1. 
58  Bertelsen Decl. ¶11 & Exh. 1. 
59  Beckendorf Decl. ¶16 & Exh. 4. 
60  Beckendorf Decl. ¶16 & Exh. 4. 
61  Beckendorf Decl. ¶17 & Exh. 4. 
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received a notification from Dropbox that files in the “Honda” folder had been modified.62 

In response, Sudip Dutta, then the Finance Director of Mike Honda for Congress, sent an email to 

Arum Group’s Madalene Mielke, the previous fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for 

Congress, to inquire about those Dropbox files.63 

Ms. Mielke sent an email to Mr. Dutta that same day.  In that email, Ms. Mielke stated 

that (1) Defendant Parvizshahi had previously been an intern for Arum Group, (2) Defendant 

Parvizshahi had not been previously removed from the Dropbox access list with respect to the 

files of Mike Honda for Congress, and (3) upon discovering that inadvertent oversight, she had 

removed Defendant Parvizshahi’s name from the Dropbox access list.64 

Subsequently, Michael Beckendorf, Campaign Manager of Mike Honda for Congress, 

requested access to the file from Ms. Mielke; and she provided him with access to the files in 

Dropbox.  Mr. Beckendorf began to examine the Honda Folders to determine what information 

had been exposed.65 

In so doing, Mr. Beckendorf found that many files within the Honda Folders had 

timestamps noting that Defendant Parvizshahi had accessed and made edits to those files after he 

had left Arum Group, LLC and throughout the time when he was working for Ro for Congress, 

Inc.66 

That same day (May 31, 2016), Mr. Beckendorf contacted Robert Eberhardt, Mike Honda 

for Honda’s opposition researcher, to assist in assessing the nature of information that had been 

compromised.  For this purpose, Mr. Eberhardt was given access to the Honda Folders.67  Mr. 

Beckendorf also asked Vedant Patel, Communications Director to Mike Honda for Congress, to 

                                                 
62  Beckendorf Decl. ¶18 & Exh. 2. 
63  Beckendorf Decl. ¶19 & Exh. 2. 
64  Mielke Decl. ¶¶39, 40 & Exh. 2. 
65  Beckendorf Decl. ¶21. 
66  Beckendorf Decl. ¶22. 
67  Beckendorf Decl. ¶23. 
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assist in assessing the scope of the data breach.68 

It became clear to Mike Honda to Congress that Defendant Parvizshahi had begun 

accessing confidential information belonging to Mike Honda for Congress after leaving Arum 

Group, and had continued accessing that information while working for Ro for Congress, Inc.69 

After examining the Honda Folders, Mr. Beckendorf also discovered that a spreadsheet 

entitled “2012 2010 Crane Club Cycle Report.xls” matched perfectly with the donor document 

that had been anonymously provided to – and published by – San Jose Inside on Dec. 16, 2015.70 

In response, Mr. Beckendorf promptly notified Rep. Honda that Defendant Parvizshahi 

had obtained access to the confidential, proprietary information of Mike Honda for Congress.71  

In addition, Mr. Beckendorf sent an email to his Campaign Team at 4:48 pm on May 31, 2016.  In 

that email, Mr. Beckendorf notified the following members of Mike Honda for Congress that 

Defendant Parvizshahi had obtained access to the campaign’s sensitive donor information:  

Vedant Patel (Communications Director); Raghu Devaguptpu and Rachel Irwin (AL Media); 

Adnaan Muslim and Mara Kunin (Mission Control, Inc.); David Mermin (Lake Research 

Partners); Robert Eberhardt (Stanford Caskey); and Mike Nellis and MaryCate Brower 

(Revolution Messaging).72 

In that email (at p.2), Mr. Beckendorf notified his Campaign Team that a significant 

amount of our campaign’s confidential fundraising had been compromised: 
 
Rob[ert Eberhardt] is currently through all the information that was 
exposed to the Khanna campaign leading [up to] [20]15. 
Safe to say that had access to EVERYTHING last cycle.73 

Shortly thereafter, Mr. Beckendorf received an email from Robert Eberhardt, Mike Honda 

for Congress’ Opposition Researcher.  In that email, Mr. Eberhardt stated:  “Yeah, as Michael 

                                                 
68  Beckendorf Decl. ¶24. 
69  Beckendorf Decl. ¶25. 
70  Beckendorf Decl. ¶26. 
71  Honda Decl. ¶¶17, 18. 
72  Beckendorf Decl. ¶28. 
73  Beckendorf Decl. ¶29 & Exh. 1 (capitalization in original). 
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[Beckendorf] said, it looks like everything related to Mike Honda’s fundraising over the last years 

is in this folder that Brian [Parvizshahi] had access to.”74  Among other things, Mr. Eberhardt 

stated that the Honda Folders contained personal contact information of the campaign’s large-

dollar and small-dollar donors.75 

M. The Donor Document Entitled “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls” 

As mentioned earlier, on Mar. 7, 2014 Defendant Parvizshahi “edited” and “added” a 

donor file entitled “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls” (hereinafter, the “Donor 

Document”):76 

 
 

 

The Donor Document contains detailed donor information from 2008 to 2014, including 

but not limited to:  date of donation, amount, contact name, employer, occupation, city and state 

of residence, email, phone numbers.77  As the first page of the document (at top left) shows, the 

Donor Document provides detailed information with respect to donations totaling to 

$3,500,594.11.78  In that regard, the Donor Document contained 9793 entries of confidential 

donor information, including that of the six supporters mentioned earlier:  Garnetta Annable, Judy 

Bertelsen, Kalyn Free, Fayzan Gowani, Bob Hasegawa, and Dale Minami.79 

N. The Harm Caused by the Data Breach and Defendant Khanna’s Accosting of Mike 

Honda for Congress Supporters:  Assessment Costs 

                                                 
74  Italics added. 
75  Beckendorf Decl. ¶31. 
76  Eberhardt Decl. ¶23. 
77  Eberhardt Decl. ¶25. 
78  Eberhardt Decl. ¶26. 
79  Eberhardt Decl. ¶¶24, 25, 29 (listing the pages of Eberhardt Decl. Exh. 1 where the names 
of the six supporters appear) & Exh. 1. 
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Mike Honda for Congress has suffered severe harm that was directly caused by the data 

breach and Defendant Khanna’s solicitation of our donors.  Among other things, Mike Honda for 

Congress was forced to spend $5,109.36 in order to assess the extent to which the Honda Folders 

had been compromised.80 

Specifically, Mr. Beckendorf devoted 60 hours (at his hourly rate of $53.12) conducting 

and compiling research, participating in conference calls, coordinating team strategy, and 

reaching out to donors.  That amount totaled to $3,187.50.  Mike Honda for Congress’ Opposition 

Researcher Robert Eberhardt devoted 15 hours (at his hourly rate of $100) conducting and 

compiling research and participating in conference calls.  That amount totaled to $1,500.00.  

Mike Honda for Congress’ Communications Director Vedant Patel devoted 15 hours (at his 

hourly rate of $28.12) conducting and compiling research, participating in conference calls, and 

developing press and communications strategy.  That amount totaled to $421.86.81 

O. The Harm Caused by the Data Breach and Defendant Khanna’s Accosting of Mike 

Honda for Congress Supporters:  Harm to Rep. Honda’s Relationship with 

Supporters 

When it comes to fundraising, Rep. Honda abides by a simple rule:  As a matter of 

respect, one should never solicit supporters of his or her opponent.82  Because it is costly to 

campaign across a highly populated metropolitan area, it is critical for not only to convince 

supporters to donate, but to encourage them to continue to donate up to the legally allowed 

limit.83 

The data breach into Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary information has 

already irreparably harmed it in at least three serious ways.  First, its supporters were harassed 

and intimidated, for Defendant Khanna accosted them at a place that they had least expected:  

                                                 
80  Beckendorf Decl. ¶33. 
81  Beckendorf Decl. ¶¶34-36. 
82  Honda Decl. ¶13. 
83  Beckendorf Decl. ¶9. 
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their email inbox.84  In response, some donors may have reduced – or stopped altogether – their 

financial support for Mike Honda for Congress.85 

Second, the data breach into confidential, proprietary information has compromised Rep. 

Honda’s relationships with supporters – which, in many cases, he has cultivated for years.86  

Third, the data breach personally embarrassed Rep. Honda and harmed his reputation.87  Not only 

were his supporters subjected to Mr. Khanna’s attacks upon Rep. Honda, but the disclosure of 

confidential, proprietary information from the Honda Folders also resulted in adverse publicity 

for Rep. Honda.88 

P. Defendants Have Directly Benefited from Their Wrongdoing 

Each Defendant has directly benefited from their wrongdoing.  Defendant Parvizshahi 

parlayed his illegal access to the Honda Folders into his current, well compensated position as 

Campaign Manager in a high-profile Congressional race.89  Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. and 

Defendant Khanna used Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary information not only to 

harass and intimidate Mike Honda for Congress supporters, but to harm Congressmember 

Honda’s reputation and political standing.90 

IV. Legal Analysis:   Overview 

 Mike Honda for Congress must be granted a preliminary injunction, because its claims 

abundantly satisfy four essential requirements:  (1) it is likely to succeed on the merits, (2) 

without a preliminary injunction, is likely to suffer irreparable harm, (3) the balance of equities 

tips in its favor, and (4) an injunction “is in the public interest”.91  The Ninth Circuit employs a 

sliding-scale analysis when examining a plaintiff’s likelihood of success on the merits.  Namely, 
                                                 
84  Honda Decl. ¶¶15, 16. 
85  Beckendorf Decl. ¶39. 
86  Honda Decl. ¶20. 
87  Honda Decl. ¶21. 
88  Beckendorf Decl. ¶38. 
89  Beckendorf Decl. ¶8 & Exh. 2. 
90  Honda Decl. ¶21. 
91  Winter v. NRDC, 129 S.Ct. 365, 374 (2008) (quoted by Alliance for the Wild Rockies v. 
Cottrell, 632 F.3d 1127, 1131 (9th Cir. 2011) (en banc). 
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a preliminary injunction is “appropriate” if (1) the balance of hardships tips “sharply” in the 

plaintiff’s favor, and (2) the plaintiff raises “serious questions going to the merits”.92 

IV. Mike Honda for Congress Is Likely To Succeed on the Merits 

 Mike Honda for Congress is likely to succeed on the merits for two reasons.  First, 

Defendant Parvizshahi and Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. (as Defendant Parvizshahi’s 

employer) repeatedly violated three provisions of the CFAA:  18 U.S.C. §§1030(a)(2)(C) [theft of 

computer data], 1030(a)(4) [unauthorized access with intent to defraud], and 1030(a)(5) 

[unauthorized access resulting in damage to computer].  Second, all three Defendants 

(Parvizshahi, Ro for Congress, Inc., and Khanna) violated 18 U.S.C. §1030(b), for they engaged 

in a conspiracy to violate the provisions of Sections 1030(a)(2)(C), 1030(a)(4), and 1030(a)(5). 

V. Three Overlapping CFAA Issues 

 We will first address three common overlapping issues under all three CFAA provisions:   

A. Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. Is Vicariously Liable for Defendant Parvizshahi’s 

CFAA Violations 

As a starting point, Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. is vicariously liable for Defendant 

Parvizshahi’s CFAA violations.  “[C]ourts have held that an employer can be vicariously liable 

for an employee’s violations of the CFAA if those transgressions occur in the scope of 

employment or the employer directs the employee’s conduct.”93 

Here, as we have shown, Defendant Parvizshahi has been employed by Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc. since January 2014.  During his employment with Defendant Ro for Congress, 

Inc., Defendant Parvizshahi “added”, “edited” or otherwise modified Mike Honda for Congress’ 

confidential, proprietary information on Dropbox at least 44 times.  In so doing, Defendant 

Parvizshahi accessed confidential information from the Donor Document, and disseminated that 

information to Defendants Ro for Congress, Inc. and Defendant Khanna.  As a direct result, Mike 

Honda for Congress supporters such as Fayzan Gowani were accosted by Defendant Khanna over 

                                                 
92  Cottrell, supra, 632 F.3d at 1134-35 (emphases added). 
93  Netapp, Inc. v. Nimble Storage, Inc., 41 F.Supp.3d 816, 835 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (Koh, J.) 
(italics added). 
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email.  Because Defendant Parvizshahi violated the CFAA in the scope of his employment, his 

employer (Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.) is vicariously liable under the CFAA. 

B. Plaintiff Satisfies the CFAA’s “Without Authorization” or “Exceeding Authorized 

Access” Requirement 

Mike Honda for Congress satisfies CFAA Sections 1030(a)(2), 1030(a)(4), and 

1030(a)(5)’s requirement that the perpetrator of the offense (a) had no “authorization” to access 

the confidential data or (b) “exceeded his or her authorized access” when he or she accessed the 

confidential data.  As this Court recently held in NetApp v. Nimble Storage, the CFAA flatly bans 

a former employee from continuing to access his former employer’s confidential information – 

even if his or her access is inadvertently not withdrawn.94  The Court likened that situation to 

where “a houseguest receives a key, is then told he is no longer welcome but keeps the key, and 

the homeowner neglects to change the lock.”95  Thus, if a former employer accesses such 

information after his employment concludes, he or she has acted “without authorization” and 

“exceed[ed] authorized access” as a matter of law. 

The facts here exactly mirror those of Netapp.  After leaving Arum Group, Defendant 

Parvizshahi’s access to the Arum Group’s Dropbox account was inadvertently not withdrawn.  

Nevertheless, he continued to repeatedly access the Honda Folders on the Arum Group’s 

Dropbox account after leaving Arum Group and after becoming an employee of Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc.  Accordingly, both Defendant Parvizshahi and his employer (Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc.) acted “without authorization” and “exceed[ed] authorized access” when they 

repeatedly accessed the confidential, proprietary information of Mike Honda for Congress. 

C. Plaintiff Satisfies the CFAA’s Loss/Damage Requirement 

Furthermore, Mike Honda for Congress satisfies the CFAA’s loss/damage requirement.  

                                                 
94  Netapp, supra, 41 F.Supp.3d 816, 831-34 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (Koh, J.); see also Weingand 
v. Harland Financial Solutions, Inc., 2012 WL 2327660 (N.D. Cal. June 19, 2012). 
95  Netapp, supra, 41 F.Supp.3d at 832 (italics added).  Plaintiff also satisfies the CFAA’s 
“protected computer” requirement, for Defendant Parvizshahi accessed Arum Group’s Dropbox 
account by engaging in “conduct involv[ing] interstate or foreign communication”:  namely, 
using the internet.  See Shurgard Storage Centers, Inc. v. Safeguard Self Storage, Inc., 119 
F.Supp.2d 1121, 1125 (W.D. Wash. 2000). 
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To bring a civil action under the CFAA, a plaintiff must show that the alleged violations caused 

“damage” or a “loss” of at least $5,000.96  First, Mike Honda for Congress satisfies CFAA’s 

requirement with respect to “loss”. 

The CFAA defines loss as “any reasonable cost to any victim, including the cost of 

responding to an offense[.]”97  As the Fourth Circuit and this Court have held, the “cost of 

investigating and identifying the CFAA, including many hours of valuable time away from day-

to-day responsibilities” qualifies as the cost of responding to a CFAA offense, provided that the 

response costs totaled to at least $5000.98 

Here, as shown earlier, Mike Honda for Congress was forced to shift its Campaign 

Manager, Opposition Researcher, and Press Secretary to investigate and identify the CFAA 

violation:  namely, the data breach that was discovered on May 31, 2016.  Because the response 

costs for that effort totaled to $5,109.36, Mike Honda for Congress satisfies the CFAA’s $5,000 

“loss” requirement. 

Second, Mike Honda for Congress satisfies CFAA’s requirement with respect to 

“damage”.  It is settled law that the misappropriation of trade secrets or confidential information 

suffices to establish the $5,000 jurisdictional threshold, for misappropriation impairs the integrity 

of such data or information.99 

Here, it is beyond dispute that Defendant Parvizshahi misappropriated Mike Honda for 

Congress’ confidential, proprietary information.  Specifically, Defendant Parvizshahi “added” a 

number of Dropbox files in the Honda Folders.  As shown earlier, Dropbox files labeled as 

“added” are the most interesting.  If the “added” file had existed before the “added” action was 

taken, it means that someone had removed the file to another location (e.g., his or her desktop) – 

                                                 
96  E.g., A.V. ex rel. Vanderhye v. iParadigms, LLC, 562 F.3d 630, 646 (4th Cir. 2009) (citing 
18 U.S.C. §1030(g) & (a)(5)(B)(i)). 
97  18 U.S.C. §1030(e)(11). 
98  iParadigms, supra, 562 F.3d at 646 (citing with approval SuccessFactors, Inc. v. 
Softscape, Inc., 544 F.Supp.2d 975, 980-81 (N.D. Cal. 2008)). 
99  E.g., Four Seasons Hotel & Resorts BV v. Consorcio Barr, SA, 267 F.Supp.2d 1268, 1324 
(S.D. Fla. 2003); Shurgard, supra, 119 F.Supp.2d at 1126-27. 
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and then moved the file back to the shared location within the Dropbox account.100 

As shown earlier, Defendant Parvizshahi “added”, “edited”, or in some way modified 

individual documents at least 44 times during his employment with Ro Khanna for Congress.  

What is more, Defendant Parvizshahi disseminated the misappropriated information to Defendant 

Khanna and Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.  Indeed, one of the documents that had existed 

before it was “added” by Defendant Parvizshahi – the Donor Document – contained the email 

addresses of all six Honda for Congress declarants that Defendant Khanna had accosted by email:  

Garnetta Annable, Judy Bertelsen, Kalyn Free, Fayzan Gowani, Bob Hasegawa, and Dale 

Minami.  Because Defendant Parvizshahi misappropriated its confidential, proprietary 

information, Mike Honda for Congress meet the CFAA’s damage requirement as a matter of law. 

VI. Defendants Parvizshahi and Ro for Congress, Inc. Violated CFAA Section 

1030(a)(2)(C) [Theft of Computer Data] 

 Defendant Parvizshahi and (through vicariously liability) Ro for Congress, Inc. violated 

CFAA Section 1030(a)(2)(C), which bans the theft of computer data.  Under that provision, 

“[w]hoever … intentionally accesses a computer without authorization or exceeds authorized 

access, and thereby obtains … information from any protected computer if the conduct involved 

an interstate or foreign communication … shall be punished”.101 

 As shown above, Defendant Parvizshahi repeatedly accessed and misappropriated Mike 

Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary information after leaving Arum Group and joining 

Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc.  Accordingly, both he and Ro for Congress, Inc. are liable under 

Section 1030(a)(2)(C). 

VII. Defendants Parvizshahi and Ro for Congress, Inc. Violated CFAA Section 1030(a)(4) 

[Unauthorized Access with Intent to Defraud] 

In addition, Defendant Parvizshahi and (through vicariously liability) Ro for Congress, 

Inc. violated CFAA Section 1030(a)(4), which bans accessing a computer with “intent to 

defraud”.  As this Court has made clear, “fraud” under the CFAA “only requires a showing of 
                                                 
100  O’Day Decl. ¶¶25-27. 
101  Shurgard, supra, 119 F.Supp.2d at 1124. 
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unlawful access; there is no need to plead the elements of common law fraud[.]”102 

As shown above, Defendant Parvizshahi unlawfully Mike Honda for Congress’ 

confidential, proprietary information after leaving Arum Group and joining Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc.  Accordingly, both he and Ro for Congress, Inc. are liable under Section 

1030(a)(4). 

VIII. Defendants Parvizshahi and Ro for Congress, Inc. Violated CFAA Section 1030(a)(5) 

[Unauthorized Access Resulting in Damage to Computer] 

 Defendants Parvizshahi and (through vicarious liability) Ro for Congress, Inc. also 

violated CFAA Section 1030(a)(5), which bans accessing a computer, without authorization, that 

results in “damage”.103  As we have shown, Mike Honda for Congress can show that it suffered 

damage, for Defendant Parvizshahi misappropriated its confidential, proprietary information.  

Moreover, as we have shown, Defendant Parvizshahi accessed Arum Group’s Dropbox account 

without authorization as a matter of law, for he accessed the Dropbox account after his 

employment with Arum Group had ended.  Therefore, Defendants Parvizshahi and Ro for 

Congress, Inc. violated CFAA Section 1030(a)(5). 

IX. Defendants Parvizshahi, Ro for Congress, Inc., and Khanna Are Liable for 

Conspiracy [CFAA Section 1030(b)] 

Finally, Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna 

are liable for conspiracy under CFAA Section 1030(b).  To show a conspiracy under the CFAA, a 

plaintiff must show that “defendants reached some explicit or tacit understanding or 

agreement.”104  Here, beginning approximately January 2014, Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant 

Ro for Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna had an understanding, whereby (1) Defendant 

Parvizshahi obtained Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary information from the 

Arum Group’s Dropbox account, and (2) all three Defendants used that information for their 

                                                 
102  Netapp, supra, 41 F.Supp.3d at 833 (italics added). 
103  Shurgard, supra, 119 F.Supp.2d at 1126. 
104  Alfus v. Pyramid Tech. Corp., 745 F.Supp. 1511, 1521 (N.D. Cal. 1990) (quoted by 
Netapp, supra, 41 F.Supp.3d at 836). 
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benefit and to the detriment of Mike Honda for Congress, Inc. 

Among other things, that collaboration between the Defendants enabled them to create 

what Defendant Khanna called a “friends list” – one that consists of supporters of Mike Honda 

for Congress.  In that regard, Defendant Khanna personally responded to inquiries from Mike 

Honda for Congress supporters regarding the “friends list”; and, as needed, directed Defendant 

Parvizshahi to remove certain Mike Honda for Congress supporters (like Fayzan Gowani) from 

the “friends list”.  Because they had – and demonstrably acted on – an understanding to jointly 

engage in conduct that violated the CFAA, all Defendants are liable for conspiracy under Section 

1030(b). 

X. Mike Honda for Congress Continues to Suffer Irreparable Harm 

Mike Honda for Congress has already suffered irreparable harm – and will continue to 

suffer irreparable harm – unless it is granted a preliminary injunction.  An injunction is called for 

if wrongdoing has harmed one’s reputation or resulted in the loss of goodwill.105  The illegal data 

breach perpetrated by Defendants has already personally embarrassed Rep. Honda, compromised 

his relationship with supporters, and harmed his reputation.  Unless an injunction issues against 

them, Defendants will continue to use the information that they illegally obtained for their own 

benefit and to Rep. Honda’s detriment. 

XI. The Balance of Hardships Tips Sharply in Mike Honda for Congress’ Favor 

 With the general election looming, the balance of hardships tips sharply in Mike Honda 

for Congress’ favor.  “It is obvious that compliance with the law is in the public interest.”106  

Unless an injunction is granted, Defendants will continue to reap political and economic benefits 

from violating the CFAA.  Therefore, there can be no question that the balance of hardships tips 

sharply in Mike Honda for Congress’ favor.  

VII. Plaintiffs Are Entitled to a Preliminary Injunction 

This brief has painstakingly shown that Mike Honda for Congress is entitled to a 

                                                 
105  E.g., YourNetDating , LLC v. Mitchell, 88 F.Supp.2d 870 (N.D. Ill. 2000); Southeastern 
Mechanical Svcs., Inc. v. Broday, No. 08-CV-01151, 2008 BL 232599 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 15, 2008). 
106  N.D. v. Haw. Dep’t of Educ., 600 F.3d 1104, 1113 (9th Cir. 2010). 
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preliminary injunction.  First, it is not just “likely”, but certain that it will prevail on the merits.  

Second, Mike Honda for Congress continues to suffer irreparable harm.  Finally, the balance of 

hardships tip sharply in its favor – a critical circumstance to which the Ninth Circuit pays special 

heed.107  Finally, the public will greatly benefit from injunctive relief, for Defendants will be 

ordered to stop violating federal law.  For all these reasons, the Court must grant Mike Honda for 

Congress swift, injunctive relief. 

VIII. Conclusion 

Laws must be honored, not broken.  In light of Defendant Parvizshahi, Defendant Ro for 

Congress, Inc., and Defendant Khanna’s deliberate, repeated, and shameful wrongdoing, Mike 

Honda for Congress respectfully asks the Court to swiftly grant all appropriate injunctive relief. 

 

 
 
DATED:  Sept. 22, 2016 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

By:  /s/ Gautam Dutta 
GAUTAM DUTTA, ESQ. 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 
 

 

                                                 
107  Cottrell, supra, 632 F.3d at 1134-35 (emphases added). 

Case 5:16-cv-05416   Document 5   Filed 09/22/16   Page 26 of 26



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

  HONDA DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF MICHAEL M. 
“MIKE” HONDA IN SUPPORT 
OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

I, Mike Honda, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am the Representative for California’s 17th Congressional District, which covers 

portions of Santa Clara and Alameda Counties. 

2. I submit this Declaration in my capacity as a candidate for federal office.  My 

campaign committee, Mike Honda for Congress, is the Plaintiff in this litigation. 

3. When I was a child, my family was forced to stay at an internment camp because 

we were Japanese American. 

4. After World War II, I spent the rest of my childhood in San Jose. 

5. I earned my Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees from San Jose State University.   

6. I have also served in the U.S. Peace Corps in El Salvador, where I became fluent 
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in Spanish. 

7. My professional career began as a schoolteacher and principal. 

8. Prior to my election to the U.S. House of Representatives in 2000, I served in the 

California State Assembly, Santa Clara County Board of Supervisors, San Jose 

Unified School Board, and San Jose Planning Commission. 

9. As Congressmember, I am a meber of the House Committee on Appropriations, 

serving on two Appropriations Subcommittees: the Subcommittee on Commerce, 

Justice, Science, and Related Agencies, and the Subcommittee on Energy and 

Water Development, and Related Agencies. 

THE INVASION OF MY DONORS’ PRIVACY 

10. It costs millions of dollars to mount a Congressional campaign in a metropolitan 

area like Silicon Valley. 

11. In my experience, the vast majority of our donations comes from previous donors.  

I am proud that many of our supporters give what they can, and donate modest 

amounts such as $20 or $30. 

12. For this compelling reason, we must not only convince our supporters to donate, 

but to encourage them to continue to donate up to the legally allowed limit. 

13. When it comes to fundraising, I abide by a simple rule:  As a matter of respect, one 

should never solicit supporters of my opponent. 

14. My campaign had previously used Arum Group, LLC as its fundraising consultant. 

15. In early October 2015, I was informed by my Campaign Manager Michael 

Beckendorf that Ro Khanna had directly solicited a number of my campaign’s 

donors by directly emailing them. 

16. I was deeply disturbed to learn that my donors were being solicited and pressured 

by my opponent. 

17. On May 31, 2016, I was informed by Mr. Beckendorf that several files in Arum 

Group’s Dropbox account containing our campaign’s confidential donor 
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information had been compromised.   

18. Mr. Beckendorf also informed me that the Brian Parvizshahi, who currently serves 

as Mr. Khanna’s Campaign Manager, had continuously been accessing my 

campaign’s confidential donor files through last year.   

19. My supporters expect – and deserve – to have their confidentiality and privacy 

respected. 

20. The data breach into my campaign’s confidential donor files has compromised my 

relationships with my donors – which, in many cases, I have cultivated for years. 

21. Our donors are people who have put their trust in me.  The use of their private, 

confidential contact and financial information – and their unexpected contact with 

Mr. Khanna – has been upsetting to them.  What is more, it has personally 

embarrassed me and harmed my reputation. 

22. Mr. Khanna, his campaign, and campaign manager have already used our 

confidential information to solicit and pressure our donors. 

23. We ask the Court to issue a preliminary injunction to stop them from continuing to 

do so before the November election. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on Sept. 

19, 2016.                                                 

      By:  /s/ Michael M. “Mike” Honda        

             MICHAEL M. “MIKE” HONDA 
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  BECKENDORF DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF MICHAEL T. 
BECKENDORF IN SUPPORT 
OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

 

I, Michael T. Beckendorf, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am the Campaign Manager for Mike Honda for Congress, and have served in this 

capacity since June 2015.  I have worked as a Campaign Manager and other senior 

positions for a number of campaigns at the federal, statewide, and state levels. 

2. I earned my bachelor’s degree in Political Science and Government from the 

University of Central Arkansas. 

3. I am not a party in this action.  I make this declaration of my own personal 

knowledge, and, if called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth herein. 
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THE RACE FOR CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT 17 

4. Congressmember Mike Honda represents California’s 17th Congressional District, 

an area that comprises a core part of Silicon Valley:  Cupertino, Sunnyvale, Santa 

Clara, Milpitas, Newark, and parts of San Jose and Fremont. 

5. In 2004, Ro Khanna unsuccessfully ran for the U.S. House of Representatives 

against the late Congressmember Tom Lantos, who represented San Mateo County 

and a part of San Francisco County. 

6. In 2014, Mr. Khanna unsuccessfully challenged Congressmember Honda for his 

current seat. 

7. Because they were the top two finishers in California’s June 7, 2016 “Top Two” 

Primary, Congressmember Honda and Ro Khanna advanced to the Nov. 8, 2016 

general election. 

8. Currently, Brian Parvizshahi is the Campaign Manager of Ro Khanna’s campaign.  

According to his LinkedIn profile, he joined the Khanna campaign as Data 

Director in January 2014, and became campaign manager last year.  A true and 

accurate copy of Mr. Parvizshahi’s LinkedIn profile1 has been attached as Exhibit 

2. 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION OF MIKE HONDA SUPPORTERS 

9. Because it is costly to campaign across a highly populated metropolitan area, it is 

critical for our campaign not only to convince supporters to donate, but to 

convince them to continue to donate up to the legally allowed limit. 

10. Beginning Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, sixteen individuals contacted our campaign to 

report that Ro Khanna had directly solicited donors to our campaign by directly 

emailing them. 

11. Our campaign was forwarded copies of Mr. Khanna’s emails, including one that 

Washington State Senator Bob Hasegawa had received on Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015 

                                                 
1  Downloaded from https://www.linkedin.com/in/brianparvi (last visited Sept. 17, 2016). 
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from Mr. Khanna.  A true and accurate copy of that email has been attached as 

Exhibit 2 to the accompanying Declaration of Bob Hasegawa. 

12. In that email, Mr. Khanna asked if Senator Hasegawa “might have time for a call” 

to discuss his (Khanna’s) race against Congressmember Honda. 

13. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of articles that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

14. At the time, we did not know how Mr. Khanna and his campaign had obtained the 

names and current email addresses of our campaign’s donors.  Those items are the 

lifeblood of any successful fundraising (and political) campaign. 

15. Based on my experience in political work, those sixteen individuals who contacted 

our campaign regarding Mr. Khanna’s email were the tip of the iceberg.  Namely, 

for every donor who contacted us, there were at least 50-100 donors who did not 

contact us. 

16. On Dec. 16, 2015, San Jose Inside published, online, a document containing 

confidential information of donors to our campaign.  That document included the 

donors’ names, preferred nicknames, employer information, personal telephone 

numbers, and preferred nicknames. 

17. According to Inside, that document had “arrived in the mail” from an anonymous 

source in early December.  A true and accurate copy of the Dec. 16, 2015 Inside 

article2 has been attached as Exhibit 4.  A true and accurate copy of the published 

donor document3 (with confidential information redacted) has been attached as 

Exhibit 3. 

                                                 
2  Downloaded from http://www.sanjoseinside.com/2015/12/16/leaked-1000-cranes-list-
links-congressman-mike-honda-to-pay-to-play-actions/ (last visited Sept. 17, 2016). 
3  Downloaded from http://www.sanjoseinside.com/2015/12/16/leaked-1000-cranes-list-
links-congressman-mike-honda-to-pay-to-play-actions/ (last visited Sept. 17, 2016). 

Case 5:16-cv-05416   Document 5-19   Filed 09/22/16   Page 3 of 7



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 - 4 - BECKENDORF  DECLARATION   

 

THE DISCOVERY OF THE DATA BREACH 

18. On May 31, 2016, Randy Broz, the fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for 

Congress, received a notification from Dropbox that files in the “Honda” folder 

had been modified. 

19. In response, our then-Finance Director Sudip Dutta sent an email to Arum Group’s 

Madalene Mielke, the previous fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for 

Congress, to inquire about those Dropbox files.  A copy of that email has been 

attached as Exhibit 2 to the accompanying Declaration of Madalene Mielke. 

20. In response, Ms. Mielke sent an email to Mr. Dutta that same day.  In that email, 

Ms. Mielke stated that (1) Brian Parvizshahi had previously been an intern for 

Arum Group, (2) Brian Parvizshahi had not been previously removed from the 

Dropbox access list with respect to the files of Mike Honda for Congress, and (3) 

upon discovering that inadvertent oversight, she had removed Mr. Parvizshahi’s 

name from the Dropbox access list.  A copy of that email has been attached as 

Exhibit 2 to the accompanying Declaration of Madalene Mielke. 

21. Subsequently, I requested access to the file from Ms. Mielke and she provided me 

with access to the files in Dropbox (hereinafter, the “Honda Folders”).  I began to 

examine the Honda Folders to determine what information had been exposed. 

22. In so doing, I found that many files within the Honda Folders had timestamps 

noting that Mr. Parvizshahi had accessed and made edits to those files after he had 

left Arum Group, LLC and throughout the time when he was working for Ro 

Khanna for Congress.   

23. That same day (May 31, 2016), I contacted Robert Eberhardt of Stanford Caskey 

to assist in assessing the nature of information that had been compromised.  For 

this purpose, Mr. Eberhardt was given access to the Honda Folders. 

24. I also asked Mike Honda for Congress Communications Director Vedant Patel to 

assist in assessing the scope of the data breach. 
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25. It became clear to me that Mr. Parvizshahi had begun accessing our campaign’s 

confidential information after leaving Arum Group, and had continued accessing 

our campaign’s confidential information while working for the Khanna campaign. 

26. After examining the Honda Folders, I also discovered that a spreadsheet entitled 

“2012 2010 Crane Club Cycle Report.xls” matched perfectly with the donor 

document (attached as Exhibit 3) that had been anonymously provided to – and 

published by – San Jose Inside on Dec. 16, 2015 (article attached as Exhibit 4).  If 

requested, I would be glad to provide the Court with a copy of the unredacted 

donor document, under seal. 

27. In response, I promptly notified Congressmember Honda that Mr. Parvizshahi had 

obtained access to our campaign’s sensitive donor information. 

28. In addition, I sent an email to our Campaign Team at 4:48 pm on May 31, 2016.  

In that email, I notified the following members of Mike Honda for Congress that 

Mr. Parvizshahi had obtained access to our campaign’s sensitive donor 

information:  Vedant Patel (Communications Director); Raghu Devaguptpu and 

Rachel Irwin (AL Media); Adnaan Muslim and Mara Kunin (Mission Control, 

Inc.); David Mermin (Lake Research Partners); Robert Eberhardt (Stanford 

Caskey); and Mike Nellis and MaryCate Brower (Revolution Messaging).  A true 

and accurate copy of that email (with email addresses redacted) has been attached 

as Exhibit 1. 

29. In that email (at p.2), I notified our Campaign Team that a significant amount of 

our campaign’s confidential fundraising had been compromised: 

Rob[ert Eberhardt] is currently through all the information that was 

exposed to the Khanna campaign leading [up to] [20]15. 

Safe to say that had access to EVERYTHING last cycle.4 

30. Shortly thereafter, I received an email from Robert Eberhardt, our campaign’s 

                                                 
4  Capitalization in original. 
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opposition researcher.  In that email, Mr. Eberhardt stated:  “Yeah, as Michael 

said, it looks like everything related to Mike Honda’s fundraising over the last 

years is in this folder that Brian [Parvizshahi] had access to.”5  A true and accurate 

copy of that email (with email addresses redacted) has been attached as Exhibit 1. 

31. Among other things, Mr. Eberhardt stated that the Honda Folders contained 

personal contact information of the campaign’s large-dollar and small-dollar 

donors. 

THE HARM CAUSED BY THE DATA BREACH AND DONOR SOLICITATIONS: 

ASSESSMENT COSTS 

32. Our campaign has suffered severe harm that was directly caused by the data breach 

and Ro Khanna’s solicitation of our donors. 

33. To begin with, our campaign was forced to spend $5,109.36 in order to assess the 

extent to which the Honda Folders had been compromised. 

34. Specifically, I devoted 60 hours (at my hourly rate of $53.12) conducting and 

compiling research, participating in conference calls, coordinating team strategy, 

and reaching out to donors.  That amount totaled to $3,187.50. 

35. Our opposition researcher Robert Eberhardt devoted 15 hours (at his hourly rate of 

$100) conducting and compiling research and participating in conference calls.  

That amount totaled to $1,500.00. 

36. Our Communications Director Vedant Patel devoted 15 hours (at his hourly rate of 

$28.12) conducting and compiling research, participating in conference calls, and 

developing press and communications strategy.  That amount totaled to $421.86. 

THE HARM CAUSED BY THE DATA BREACH AND DONOR SOLICITATIONS: 

HARM TO CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA’S RELATIONSHIP WITH DONORS 

37. The data breach into our donor files has already irreparably harmed 

Congressmember Honda’s campaign in at least two troubling ways. 

                                                 
5  Italics added. 
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38. First, our supporters were harassed and intimidated, for Mr. Khanna sent his 

solicitation to a place that they had least expected:  their email inbox.  In response, 

some donors may have reduced – or stopped altogether – their financial support for 

our campaign. 

39. Second, the data breach directly harmed Congressmember Honda’s reputation.  

Not only were our supporters subjected to Mr. Khanna’s attacks on 

Congressmember Honda, but the disclosure of confidential information from the 

Holder Folders (e.g., the donor document published by San Jose Inside) also 

resulted in adverse publicity for Congressmember Honda. 

40. Unless all Defendants are ordered to return – and stop using – all information 

obtained from the data breach, Congressmember Honda’s campaign will continue 

to suffer irreparable harm. 

 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

September 20, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Michael Beckendorf      

             MICHAEL BECKENDORF 
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  EBERHARDT DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF ROBERT 
EBERHARDT IN SUPPORT 
OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

I, Robert Eberhardt, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am the Opposition Researcher for Mike Honda for Congress. 

2. I am Partner and Director of Research at Stanford Caskey, which is located in 

Austin, Texas.  In that capacity, I provide opposition and policy research, strategic 

consulting, and a variety of other services to political candidates and groups, 

corporate clients, and labor unions across the nation. 

3. My research has been featured in the national media, including the Wall Street 

Journal. 

4. I earned my bachelor’s degree in Corporate Communications from the University 

of Texas at Austin. 
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5. I am not a party in this action.  I make this declaration of my own personal 

knowledge, and, if called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth herein. 

THE KHANNA CAMPAIGN’S ACCESS TO DONOR INFORMATION 

6. On May 31, 2016, Michael Beckendorf, Campaign Manager for Mike Honda for 

Congress, contacted me.  He asked me to assist in assessing a data breach 

involving the campaign’s confidential donor information. 

7. Dropbox is a cloud (online) storage service that is frequently used for sharing and 

synchronizing files. 

8. The donor information at issue was stored in the Dropbox account of Arum Group, 

LLC, the former fundraising consultant for Mike Honda for Congress. 

9. For this purpose, I was given access to the campaign’s donor information 

(hereinafter, the “Honda Folders” stored in the Arum Group’s Dropbox account. 

10. Among other things, the Honda Folders contained personal contact information of 

the campaign’s large-dollar and small-dollar donors. 

11. After examining the Honda Folders, it became clear to me that Brian Parvizshahi – 

the current Campaign Manager of Ro for Congress, Inc. – had accessed our 

campaign’s confidential information. 

12. That same day (May 31, 2016), I sent an email to Mr. Beckendorf and our 

campaign team.  In that email, I stated:  “Yeah, as Michael said, it looks like 

everything related to Mike Honda’s fundraising over the last years is in this folder 

that Brian [Parvizshahi] had access to.”1  A true and accurate copy of that email 

(with email addresses redacted) has been attached as Exhibit 1 to the 

accompanying Declaration of Michael Beckendorf. 

13. Subsequently, I thoroughly analyzed and reviewed the Honda Folders located on 

the Arum Group’s Dropbox account. 

                                                 
1  Italics added. 
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14. According to his LinkedIn profile, Brian Parvizshahi joined the Khanna campaign 

as Data Director in January 2014, and became campaign manager last year.  A true 

and accurate copy of Mr. Parvizshahi’s LinkedIn profile2 has been attached as 

Exhibit 2 to the accompanying Declaration of Michael Beckendorf. 

15. According to reports filed by the Khanna campaign with the Federal Election 

Commission (FEC), Mr. Parvizshahi was compensated by the Khanna campaign 

beginning Jan. 10, 2014.  True and accurate copies of Khanna campaign FEC 

reports (downloaded from the FEC’s website at www.fec.gov) containing 

payments to Mr. Parvizshahi have been attached as Exhibit 2. 

TIME LINE OF THE DATA BREACH 

16. During the relevant period, Mr. Parvizshahi accessed the Honda Folders from 

either of two computers:  one had the alias of “BrianParvi-PC”; the other had the 

alias of “BrianParvi”. 

17. Before Jan. 2014 (when he began working for the Khanna campaign), Mr. 

Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified the Honda Folders at least 

a total of seven times:  three times on Feb. 7, 2013, once on Feb. 18, 2013, twice 

on June 23, 2013, and once on Sept. 20, 2013. 

18. I have reprinted, below, true and accurate copies of screenshots of each file that 

Mr. Parvizshahi “edited”, “added” or in some way modified as they appear on my 

own Dropbox screen for the period Feb. 7, 2013 through Sept. 20, 2013: 
 

 
 

 
 

                                                 
2  Downloaded from https://www.linkedin.com/in/brianparvi (last visited Sept. 17, 2016). 
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19. After Jan. 2014 (when he began working for the Khanna campaign), Mr. 

Parvizshahi continuously accessed the Honda Folders.  Specifically, Mr. 

Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified individual documents 

within the Honda Folders at least forty-four (44) times.  Several documents were 

“edited”, “added”, or in some way modified more than once. 

20. I have reprinted, below, true and accurate copies of screenshots of each file that 

Mr. Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified as they appear on my 

own Dropbox screen for the period Jan. 1, 2014 through June 14, 2015: 
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21. On June 15, 2015, Mr. Parvizshahi “edited” the Honda Folders for the last time. 

22. I have reprinted, below, true and accurate copies of screenshots of each file that 

Mr. Parvizshahi “edited”, “added”, or in some way modified as they appear on my 

own Dropbox screen for June 15, 2015:  
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THE DONOR DOCUMENT “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls” 

23. As seen above, on March 7, 2014 Mr. Parvizshahi “edited” and “added” a donor 

file entitled “030514 MH contribution 2008-2014.xls”: 

 

 
 

 

24. That file contained 9793 entries of confidential donor information.  I have 

attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and accurate copy of that document (hereinafter, “the 

Donor Document”), organized by donation amount. 

25. The Donor Document contains detailed donor information from 2008 to 2014, 

including but not limited to:  date of donation, amount, contact name, employer, 

occupation, city and state of residence, email, phone numbers. 

26. As the first page of the document (at top left) shows, the Donor Document 

provides detailed information with respect to donations totaling to $3,500,594.11. 

27. To honor the privacy of the donors, I have redacted the employer, occupation, 

phone, and email information for all donors who gave more than $200. 

28. I have also redacted the names and all information of all donors who gave $200 or 

less (hereinafter, “non-FEC donors”).3  To conserve paper, I have not attached any 

page containing the names of non-FEC donors, unless that page contains the name 

of at least one of the six witnesses who have filed Declarations in connection with 

this Motion for Preliminary Injunction. 

                                                 
3  Federal campaigns are required to report to the Federal Election Commission donations of 
more than $200 during an election cycle.  See 52 U.S.C. §30104(b)(3)(a); 11 C.F.R. §104.8(a).  
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29. For ease of reference, the six witnesses are listed on the Donor Document at the 

following locations on Exhibit 1: 

NAME    LOCATION ON DONOR DOCUMENT (Exhibit 1) 

Garnetta Annable  Part 3, pp. 8, 9, 10 

Judy Bertelsen   Part 3, pp. 5, 6 

Kalyn Free   Part 1, pp. 6, 19, 22, 26 

    Part 2, pp. 8, 16, 22 

    Part 3, p. 7 

Fayzan Gowani  Part 3, p. 4 

Bob Hasegawa  Part 3, pp. 1, 2, 3 

Dale Minami   Part 1, p. 15 

Part 3, p. 11 

30. Ro Khanna sent the emails at issue to Mike Honda donors on Oct. 3, 2015.  

31. As of today, one witness (Fayzan Gowani) who have filed an accompanying 

Declaration was not listed in the Federal Election Commission’s (FEC) records. 

32. Specifically, I conducted a donor search at the FEC’s website 

(http://www.fec.gov/finance/disclosure/norindsea.shtml) for Ms. Gowani.  

According to the FEC’s website, “no transactions [i.e., donations] were found 

under her name. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

September 20, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Robert Eberhardt    

             ROBERT EBERHARDT 
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  DUTTA DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF GAUTAM DUTTA IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

I, Gautam Dutta, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney licensed to practice in the State of California, and represent 

Plaintiffs in this case. 

2. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

3. Plaintiff Mike Honda for Congress is an unincorporated political association with 

its principal place of business in Santa Clara County, California. 

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Brian Parvizshahi works from a place of 

business located in Santa Clara County, California. 

5. Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc., a California corporation that was incorporated 
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in 2011, conducts business from and maintains an office in Santa Clara County, 

California. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Rohit “Ro” Khanna is a resident of 

Alameda County, and works from a place of business located in Santa Clara 

County. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 21, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Gautam Dutta  

             GAUTAM DUTTA 
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  O’DAY DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF BILL O’DAY IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

 

I, Bill O’Day, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. By way of background, I am Senior DevOps Engineer for a Cambridge, 

Massachusetts company that helps retail businesses reduce shoplifting and 

employee theft.  I drafted this statement on my own personal time. 

2. I have a bachelor’s degree in Computer Science from the University of Rhode 

Island. 

3. DevOps (an amalgam of the words “development” and “operations”) makes it 

possible to build, test, and release software rapidly, frequently, and more reliably, 

by harmonizing the efforts of software developers and other IT professionals. 

Among my current responsibilities is the design and implementation of security 
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and auditing frameworks. 

4. Earlier, I served as Director of IT for two nonprofits:  Jewish Community Housing 

for the Elderly (in Brighton, Massachusetts) and American Society of Law, 

Medicine & Ethics (in Boston, Massachusetts). 

5. In those roles, I handled the overarching information infrastructure. One of which, 

a multisite housing community that had a majority of residents receiving some 

form of affordable housing assistance – putting a high value on maintaining the 

integrity of resident and applicant data, while allowing for sharing when required. 

6. I make this Declaration of my own personal knowledge, and, if called as a witness, 

I could and would testify competently to the truth of the matters set forth in this 

Declaration.  

MY EXPERIENCE WITH DROPBOX 

7. Dropbox is a cloud (online) storage service that is frequently used for sharing and 

synchronizing files. 

8. I have used Dropbox professionally and personally in multiple teams to effectively 

work together and keep resources current amongst a group of people.  I have used 

this software to manage projects over a period of four to five years.  I have 

administered file sharing using the software throughout my career. 

MY EXPERIENCE WITH AUDITING AND FORENSICS 

9. Throughout my career, I have provided forensic auditing of changes to files and 

directories local to a computer, an internal network, and on cloud-based file 

systems like Dropbox. 

10. I have most often performed forensic work in connection with corporate and 

organizational human relations (HR), as well as with in-house training situations. 

THE CREATION, USAGE, AND PERMANENCE OF DROPBOX ACCOUNTS 

11. A Dropbox account is created using at least the following pair:  a person’s 

“username” and password. 
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12. This access granted to the person using that username is unique. 

13. For example, suppose that one Dropbox account is created and then deleted, and 

later a second account is created with the same username.  In that scenario, the 

access to the shared data of the first account would not be accessible to the second 

account. 

14. Each Dropbox account has the ability to tie the account to an arbitrary number of 

computers.  Each computer would have an alias (nickname) assigned to it. 

15. Data on Dropbox is shared by means of “user permissions”.  For example, if 

user1@example.com authorizes access to a shared folder (titled “SHARES”) to 

user2@example.com, user2 would be able to access all files in SHARES from all 

devices until that access is withdrawn by user1. 

SHARING INFORMATION ON DROPBOX:  “EDITED”, “REMOVED”, AND “ADDED”. 

16. In a shared folder, all authorized users are granted access as “permissioned” 

(generally, read-only access or full access). 

17. Any changes to a file is recorded on Dropbox as “In <Shared Folder Name>,  

<user> <action> <filename>.” 

18. There are three main types of “actions” that can be made to a Dropbox file.  A file 

can be “edited”, “removed”, or “added”. 

19. An “edited” action means that the file had a new (updated) version of itself 

uploaded to the shared location within the Dropbox account.  “Edited” often means 

that the file was last viewed by a user at the time the “edited” action was recorded 

on Dropbox. 

20. Notably, just because a file has been edited does not necessarily mean that the 

content of the file has changed.  Many files have additional “metadata” stored in 

them:  information keeping track of edits, summary information, view information, 

and other information relating to the state of a document outside of the content 

itself. 
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21. Such metadata is therefore much more volatile.  For example, changing a Word 

document from “Print” view to “Draft” view would constitute a change in state 

and would be saved and recorded on Dropbox even if nothing else occurred. 

22. A file that was “edited” was definitely opened by the Dropbox user.  More could 

have been done to the file; but the “edited” marker indicates, at the very least, that 

the file was opened. 

23. A “removed” action means that the file was removed from the shared location 

within the Dropbox account. 

24. An “added” action means that a new file was added to the shared location within 

the Dropbox account. 

25. In my forensic experience, Dropbox files labeled as “added” are the most 

interesting, for those files are the ones with which that person making the change 

spent the most time. 

26. If a Dropbox file shows an action of “added” and that file had existed before the 

“added” action occurred, it means that the file was (a) removed from the shared 

location within the Dropbox account, and then (b) was re-added (i.e., was moved 

back) to the shared location within the Dropbox account. 

27. In my experience, this scenario most often occurs when someone has removed the 

file to another location (e.g., his or her desktop) – and then moved the file back to 

the shared location within the Dropbox account. 

MEANING OF THE “DESKTOP” LABEL IN “ADDED” OR “EDITED” ACTIONS 

28. When Dropbox shows that a file has been “added” or “edited”, a label of 

“Desktop” or “Website” appears on the same line.  That label (“Desktop” or 

“Website”) shows the source of the action that was taken.  

29. If the label is “Desktop”, hovering over this label will reveal the alias (nickname) 

of the computer used to make the edits. 

30. If more than one alias is seen, it means that (1) more than one computer was used 
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to make the edits, and (2) the user had authorized a number of computers to access 

both his or her personal Dropbox account and, by extension, any shared folders 

tied to that account. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 18, 2016.  

      By:  /s/ Bill O’Day  

             BILL O’DAY 
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  MIELKE DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF MADALENE XUAN-
TRANG MIELKE IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

 

I, Madalene Xuan-Trang Mielke, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am Founder and Principal of Arum Group, LLC, which is located on Capitol Hill 

in Washington DC. 

2. I have nearly 20 years of experience working on political campaigns and specialize 

in fundraising for political candidates, groups, and nonprofits, as well as political 

training focusing on the advancement of people of color. 

3. I have collaborated with a number of groups and campaigns, including the 

NAACP National Voter Fund, John Kerry for President, and Friends of Hillary. 

4. I have been a featured speaker at many conferences and meetings including the 
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American Medical Association (AMA), Asian Pacific American Institute for 

Congressional Studies (APAICS), Conference on Asian American Leadership 

(CAPAL), and many other organizations and nonprofits.  

5. I earned my degree in Political Science from Tulane University.   

6. I make this Declaration of my own personal knowledge, and, if called as a witness, 

I could and would testify competently to the truth of the matters set forth in this 

Declaration.  

OUR WORK FOR MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

7. On April 25, 2005, Mike Honda for Congress and I entered into an agreement (the 

“Agreement”), whereby I became the fundraising consultant to Mike Honda for 

Congress. 

8. I have attached, as Exhibit 3, a true and accurate copy of Agreement (with 

sensitive financial information redacted).    Both Mike Honda for Congress and I 

signed the same document (I cannot currently locate the hard copy of the signed 

Agreement). 

9. Pursuant to the Agreement (art. VI), Mike Honda for Congress solely or jointly 

owned all information (including fundraising and donor information) developed 

during the term of the Agreement.  All such information was deemed 

“confidential” and was required to be held “in absolute confidence”. 

10. After Arum Group was incorporated, my role as fundraising consultant under the 

Agreement was transferred to Arum Group. 

11. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Arum Group served as fundraising 

consultant to Mike Honda for Congress until December 2014. 

12. Alison Woodworth, who had interned for Arum Group as an undergraduate 

student, joined Arum Group as Finance Associate in July 2011. 

13. After she joined Arum Group, I worked closely with Ms. Woodworth in managing 

our fundraising work for Mike Honda for Congress. 
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ARUM GROUP’S INTERNSHIPS 

14. Ms. Woodworth’s responsibilities included hiring and supervising interns. 

15. Arum Group recruits its interns from a pool of recent college graduates or college 

students.  Typically, the interns work through the summer, on a full-time (40 hours 

per week) basis.   

16. Ms. Woodworth hired and supervised three or four interns for Summer 2012.  One 

of those interns was Brian Parvizshahi. 

17. Arum Group interns are required to sign an Internship Agreement, which contains 

a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) with respect to Arum Group’s confidential, 

client-related information. 

18. Interns were given access to some of Arum Group’s confidential client 

information.  With respect to Congressmember Honda, that information included 

private, highly sensitive contact and donation information of his donors. 

19. For reference, I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and accurate copy of Arum 

Group’s standard Internship Agreement (with the intern’s name redacted). 

20. In relevant part, the Internship Agreement stated: 
 

1. You agree that you will not in any way discuss information obtained in 
connection with your position with the Arum Group outside of the 
Arum Group’s clients. 
 

2. You will treat any confidential or non-public information provided to 
you by the Arum Group as strictly confidential.  Any dissemination or 
discussion regarding such confidential information is prohibited with 
anyone outside of the Arum Group, unless permission to disseminate or 
discuss such information is granted.  This confidentiality requirement 
shall survive the termination of this agreement.1 

ARUM GROUP’S DROPBOX ACCOUNT 

21. Dropbox is a password-protected cloud (online) storage service that is frequently 

used for sharing and synchronizing files. 

22. Pursuant to the Agreement’s requirement to protect confidential information, 

                                                 
1  Italics added. 
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Arum Group housed, on Dropbox, some of its confidential, client-related 

information relating to Mike Honda for Congress. 

23. Pursuant to Arum Group’s NDA, interns are given access to certain client folders 

and files that are housed in Arum Group’s Dropbox account. 

24. I did not administer or manage Arum Group’s Dropbox account, files, or folders.  

Instead, I delegated that task to Ms. Woodworth, who at the time was my Finance 

Associate. 

25. Ms. Woodworth left her position at Arum Group in December 2012.  After she 

left, I delegated to another Finance Associate the responsibility of administering 

and managing Arum Group’s Dropbox account, files, and folders. 

MR. PARVIZSHAHI’S BRIEF TENURE AT ARUM GROUP 

26. Brian Parvizshahi began what was intended to be his summer-long internship at 

Arum Group in May 2012. 

27. In May 2012, Mr. Parvizshahi signed an Internship Agreement, which contained 

an identical NDA provision as the standard Internship Agreement discussed above. 

28. I cannot locate the hard copy of the Internship Agreement that Mr. Parvizshahi 

signed (hereinafter, the “Parvizshahi Agreement”).  In 2012, Arum Group did not 

keep electronic backups of Internship Agreements (Arum Group now does keep 

electronic backups of its files). 

29. The Parvizshahi Agreement contained the same NDA as Arum Group’s standard 

Internship Agreement discussed above and reprinted as Exhibit 1. 

30. Shortly after joining Arum Group, Mr. Parvizshahi abruptly resigned from his 

internship. 

31. June 8, 2012 was Mr. Parvizshahi’s last day with Arum Group. 

MAY 31, 2016 DISCOVERY REGARDING THE DROPBOX ACCESS LIST 

32. In December 2014, Arum Group ended its role as the fundraising consultant for 

Mike Honda for Congress. 
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33. On May 31, 2016, I received an email from Sudip Dutta, who at the time was 

Finance Director for Mike Honda for Congress.  In that email, Mr. Dutta inquired 

regarding the status of a Dropbox folder pertaining to Mike Honda for Congress. 

34. I have attached, as Exhibit 2, a true and accurate copy (with email addresses 

redacted) of an email chain containing Mr. Dutta’s May 31, 2016 email and my 

response to his email. 

35. Shortly after receiving Mr. Dutta’s email, I accessed Arum Group’s Dropbox 

account and checked the names that were on the access list for the folders 

pertaining to Mike Honda for Congress. 

36. In so doing, I discovered, for the first time, that Mr. Parvizshahi’s name had 

inadvertently not been removed from the Dropbox access list for the folders and 

files pertaining to Mike Honda for Congress. 

37. At the time, I was aware that Mr. Parvizshahi was campaign manager of Ro 

Khanna’s campaign against Congressmember Honda. 

38. In response, I promptly removed Mr. Parvizshahi from the Dropbox access list. 

39. Subsequently, I sent an email (attached as Exhibit 2) to Mr. Dutta on May 31, 

2016. 

40. In that email, I stated that (1) Mr. Parvizshahi had not been previously removed 

from the Dropbox access list, and (2) upon discovering that inadvertent oversight, 

I had removed Mr. Parvishahi’s name from the Dropbox access list. 

41. On Aug. 31, 2016, I briefly accessed, on Dropbox, the following spreadsheet file 

in the Honda folder:  “030514 MH Contribution 2008-2014.xls”.  I did not change 

any of the data or contents in that spreadsheet file. 

42. To date, I have not emailed, texted, or spoken with Mr. Parvizshahi since the end 

of June 2012. 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 20, 2016.                                                    

      By:  /s/ Madalene Xuan-Trang Mielke__ 

             MADALENE XUAN-TRANG MIELKE 
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  WOODWORTH DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF ALISON 
WOODWORTH IN SUPPORT 
OF PLAINTIFF’S MOTION 
FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

 

I, Alison Woodworth, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. By way of background, I am Manager of Finance and Administration at the 

O’Neill Institute for National and Global Health Law at Georgetown University 

Law Center in Washington, DC. 

2. I earned bachelor’s degrees in Political Science and Journalism from Miami 

University.  

3. I am currently enrolled at Georgetown University’s McDonough School of 

Business, and expect to receive an M.B.A. in 2017. 

4. Prior to joining Georgetown Law, I was a Finance Associate at Arum Group, LLC, 
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where I worked from July 2011 to December 2012.  

5. I make this Declaration of my own personal knowledge, and, if called as a witness, 

I could and would testify competently to the truth of the matters set forth in this 

Declaration.  

MY WORK AT ARUM GROUP 

6. I served as Finance Associate at Arum Group, LLC from July 2011 through 

December 2012.  Previously, I served as Finance Intern for Arum Group while 

pursuing my undergraduate degree at Miami University. 

7. Arum Group is a consulting firm that specializes in fundraising for political 

candidates, groups, and nonprofits. 

8. During my tenure at Arum Group, Mike Honda for Congress was one of Arum 

Group’s principal clients. 

ARUM GROUP INTERNS 

9. As Finance Associate, my responsibilities included hiring and supervising interns. 

10. Arum Group recruited its interns from a pool of recent college graduates or college 

students.  Typically, the interns worked through the summer, on a full-time (40 

hours per week) basis.   

11. I hired and supervised three or four interns for Summer 2012.  One of those interns 

was Brian Parvizshahi. 

12. As part of their internship, interns typically assisted with and attended with 

Congressmember Honda’s “call time” sessions.  During call time, U.S. Senators 

and Members of Congress call current and potential campaign donors while using 

a non-government phone line from non-federal property. 

INTERNS’ ACCESS TO ARUM GROUP’S CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

13. Interns were given access to some of Arum Group’s confidential, client-related 

information.  With respect to Congressmember Honda, that information included 

private, highly sensitive contact and donation information of his donors. 

Case 5:16-cv-05416   Document 5-17   Filed 09/22/16   Page 2 of 4



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 - 3 - WOODWORTH  DECLARATION   

 

14. Arum Group interns were required to sign a non-disclosure agreement (NDA) with 

respect to Arum Group’s confidential, client-related information. 

15. Dropbox is a cloud (online) storage service that is frequently used for sharing and 

synchronizing files. 

16. Arum Group housed some of its confidential, client-related information on 

Dropbox.  Specifically, Arum Group used Dropbox’s free service, called 

“Dropbox Basic”. 

17. In that regard, interns were given access to certain client files that were housed in 

Arum Group’s Dropbox account. 

18. As the supervisor of interns, I had the responsibility of granting Dropbox access to 

Arum Group’s interns. 

19. I shared access of certain files within Arum Group’s Dropbox account by sending 

an “invitation” to the personal (i.e., non-Arum Group) email address of each 

intern. 

20. Mr. Parvizshahi was given access to two Dropbox folders:  (1) an Intern folder, 

and (2) a folder containing fundraising information relating to Congressmember 

Honda. 

MR. PARVIZSHAHI’S BRIEF TENURE AT ARUM GROUP 

21. Mr. Parvizshahi began what was intended to be his summer-long internship at 

Arum Group in May 2012. 

22. As part of his internship, Mr. Parvizshahi attended at least one of Congressmember 

Honda’s “call time” sessions. 

23. As his supervisor, I observed that Mr. Parvizshahi disliked performing what he 

deemed to be menial tasks. 

24. Shortly after joining Arum Group, Mr. Parvizshahi abruptly resigned from his 

internship. 

25. After his last day at Arum Group, Mr. Parvizshahi’s access to Arum Group’s 
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Dropbox account was inadvertently not withdrawn. 

26. I left my position at Arum Group in December 2012. 

27. To date, I have not emailed, texted, or spoken with Mr. Parvizshahi since the end 

of June 2012. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 17, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Alison Woodworth  

             ALISON WOODWORTH 
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  ANNABLE DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF GARNETTA JOY 
ANNABLE IN SUPPORT OF 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 
 

I, Garnetta Joy Annable, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am a resident of San Jose, California. 

2. Previously, I served as a Director of the Santa Clara County Open Space 

Authority. 

3. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

MY SUPPORT FOR CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA 

4. I am a supporter of Congressmember Mike Honda, and have made donations to 

Mike Honda for Congress.  I have attached, as Exhibit 2, a true and accurate copy 
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of my donation records from the FEC’s website (downloaded on Sept. 13, 2016 

from http://www.fec.gov/finance/disclosure/norindsea.shtml). 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

5. On Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, 3:14 pm, I received an email that was sent, via blind-

carbon copy, to my personal email account.  That email was sent by Mr. Khanna 

from his personal email account. 

6. I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of the email that I received 

from Mr. Khanna (the email addresses of myself and Mr. Khanna have been 

redacted). 

7. In his email, Mr. Khanna asked if I “might have time for a call” to discuss his race 

against Congressmember Honda. 

8. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of pieces that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

MY SURPRISE AT RECEIVING MR. KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

9. I have never made a donation to Mr. Khanna or his campaign. 

10. I was surprised to receive Mr. Khanna’s email solicitation, for I had not had any 

previous contact whatsoever with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 

11. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never contacted, 

spoken to, or otherwise reached out to Mr. Khanna or to any of his campaigns. 

12. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never shared my 

personal email address with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 14, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Garnetta Joy Annable____ 

             GARNETTA JOY ANNABLE 
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  BERTELSEN DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF JUDY BERTELSEN 
IN SUPPORT OF 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 
 

I, Judy Bertelsen, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. By professional training, I am a physician, geriatrician, and professor of political 

science. 

2. I was awarded bachelor’s degrees in English and Political Science from the 

University of California-Berkeley, a Ph.D. in political science from the University 

of Oregon, and an M.D. from Brown University. 

3. A longtime resident of Berkeley, I live outside of Congressional District 17. 

4. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   
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MY SUPPORT FOR CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA 

5. I am a supporter of Congressmember Mike Honda, and have made donations to 

Mike Honda for Congress. 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

6. On Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, 3:17 pm, I received an email that was sent, via blind-

carbon copy, to my personal email account.  That email was sent by Mr. Khanna 

from his personal email account. 

7. I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of an email chain containing 

Mr. Khanna’s email (the email addresses of Mr. Khanna and myself have been 

redacted), my response, and Mr. Khanna’s subsequent reply. 

8. In his email, Mr. Khanna asked if I “might have time for a call” to discuss his race 

against Congressmember Honda. 

9. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of pieces that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

10. In response, I emailed Mr. Khanna 21 minutes later, at 3:38 pm.  In that email, I 

told Mr. Khanna that I strongly support Mike Honda. 

11. One hour later, Mr. Khanna emailed me a response.  Among other things, Mr. 

Khanna stated:  “I hope over the years I will be able to earn your trust.” 

MY SURPRISE AT RECEIVING MR. KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

12. I have never made a donation to Mr. Khanna or his campaign. 

13. I was surprised to receive Mr. Khanna’s email solicitation, for I had not had any 

previous contact whatsoever with Mr. Khanna or his campaign.  Indeed, I neither 

live nor work in Congressional District 17. 

14. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never contacted, 

spoken to, or otherwise reached out to Mr. Khanna or to his campaign. 
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15. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never shared my 

personal email address with Mr. Khanna or his campaign. 

 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 21, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Judy Bertelsen    

             JUDY BERTELSEN 
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  FREE DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF KALYN FREE IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

I, Kalyn Free, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am the former District Attorney of Pittsburg and Haskell Counties in 

Southeastern Oklahoma.  In 1998, I became the first woman and Native American 

ever to be elected to that position. 

2. At 23, I was the youngest attorney ever hired by the U.S. Department of Justice 

(DOJ).  As Senior Counsel in the Indian Resources Section, I supervised 

environmental litigation throughout Oklahoma’s Indian Country. 

3. In 1995, I was the only DOJ attorney to receive the Arthur S. Flemming Award for 

Outstanding Service to the federal government. 

4. In 2004, I was a Democratic candidate for an open seat in Oklahoma’s 2nd 

Congressional District. 
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5. I am not a party to this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

MY FRIENDSHIP WITH CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA 

6. I am a friend and supporter of Congressmember Mike Honda.  Federal Election 

Commission records show that I made my first donation of over $200 to Mike 

Honda for Congress in 2010. 

7. In that regard, I have attached, as Exhibit 2, a true and correct copy of my FEC 

donation records (downloaded on Sept. 6, 2016 from the FEC’s website at 

http://www.fec.gov/finance/disclosure/norindsea.shtml). 

8. I believe that Congressmember Honda is the only federal candidate from 

California to whom I have ever made a financial donation. 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

9. On Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, 5:17 pm CT (3:17 pm PT), I received an email that was 

sent, as a blind-carbon copy, to my personal email account.  That email was sent 

by Mr. Khanna from his personal email account. 

10. I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of Mr. Khanna’s email (the 

email addresses of Mr. Khanna and myself have been redacted). 

11. In his email, Mr. Khanna asked if I “might have time for a call” to discuss his race 

against Congressmember Honda. 

12. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of articles that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

MY SURPRISE AT RECEIVING MR. KHANNA’S EMAIL 

13. I was surprised to receive Mr. Khanna’s email, for I had not had any previous 

contact whatsoever with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns.  I do not even live 
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or work in California, let alone California’s 17th Congressional District. 

14. I have never made a donation to Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 

15. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never contacted, 

spoken to, or otherwise reached out to Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 

16. I have never shared my personal email address with Mr. Khanna or any of his 

campaigns. 

 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 21, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Kalyn Free     

             KALYN FREE 
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  GOWANI DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF FAYZAN GOWANI 
IN SUPPORT OF 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 

I, Fayzan Gowani, declare as follows: 

1. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

2. On Oct. 3, 2015, I received an email that was sent by Ro Khanna to my personal 

email account. 

3. I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of an email chain containing 

Mr. Khanna’s email (the email addresses of Mr. Khanna and myself have been 

redacted), my responses, and Mr. Khanna’s replies. 
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 15, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Fayzan Gowani   

             FAYZAN GOWANI 
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  HASEGAWA DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF ROBERT “BOB” 
HASEGAWA IN SUPPORT OF 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 
 

I, Robert “Bob” Hasegawa, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I have served in the Washington State Legislature since 2005.  Currently, I am a 

Member of the Washington State Senate.  Previously, I served in the Washington 

State House of Representatives. 

2. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

MY FRIENDSHIP WITH CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA 

3. I am a personal friend of Congressmember Mike Honda. 

4. I donated $300 to Mike Honda for Congress on Mar. 23, 2014. 
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5. Congressmember Honda is the only federal candidate to whom I have ever made a 

financial donation exceeding $200. 

6. I understand that federal candidates are required to file FEC reports that identify 

the names and mailing addresses of donors who make donations exceeding $200 

during an election cycle. 

7. In that regard, I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of my federal-

candidate donation records from the Federal Election Commission (FEC).  Those 

records were downloaded on Aug. 30, 2016 from the FEC’s website (available at 

http://docquery.fec.gov/cgi-bin/qind/). 

8. Those FEC records – which do not list my personal email address – indicate that I 

donated $300 to Mike Honda for Congress on Mar. 23, 2014. 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

9. On Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, 3:10 pm, I received an email that was sent to my 

personal (i.e., non-Washington State) email account.  That email was sent, via 

blind-carbon copy, by Mr. Khanna from his personal email account. 

10. I have attached, as Exhibit 2, a true and correct copy of Mr. Khanna’s email (the 

email addresses of Mr. Khanna and myself have been redacted). 

11. In his email, Mr. Khanna asked if I “might have time for a call” to discuss his race 

against Congressmember Honda. 

12. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of articles that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

MY SURPRISE AND DISAPPOINTMENT AT RECEIVING MR. KHANNA’S EMAIL 

13. I was surprised to receive Mr. Khanna’s email, for I had not had any previous 

contact whatsoever with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns.  I do not even live 

or work in California, let alone California’s 17th Congressional District. 
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14. I have never made a donation to any of Mr. Khanna’s campaigns. 

15. Prior to receiving Mr. Khanna’s email on Oct. 3, 2015, I had never contacted, 

spoken to, or otherwise reached out to Mr. Khanna or to any of his campaigns. 

16. I have never shared either my personal (i.e., non-Washington State) email address 

or official email address with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 

17. As a longtime public servant, I was disappointed by Mr. Khanna’s conduct as a 

candidate for public office.  Even though we had never met, spoken, or 

corresponded before, Mr. Khanna deliberately chose to solicit me to stop 

supporting – and turn against – a personal friend. 

 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 8, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Robert “Bob” Hasegawa     

             ROBERT “BOB” HASEGAWA 
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  MINAMI DECLARATION 

 

Gautam Dutta, Esq. (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048; Fax:  213.405.2416 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  

    JUDGE:  TBD 
 

DECLARATION OF DALE MINAMI IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

 
     Hearing Date:  TBD 

 
 

I, Dale Minami, declare as follows: 

MY BACKGROUND 

1. I am an attorney who has practiced law since 1972. 

2. A resident of San Francisco, I live and work outside of Congressional District 17. 

3. My practice focuses on the areas of personal injury and wrongful death.  I also 

represent clients in the entertainment industry, including Olympic Gold Medalist 

Kristi Yamaguchi and a number of television journalists. 

4. I am co-founder of the Asian Law Caucus, the first community interest law firm 

serving Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders in the country; co-founder of the 

Asian American Bar Association of the Greater Bay Area, the first Asian 

American bar association in the country; and co-founder of the Coalition of Asian 
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Pacific Americans, one of the nation’s first political action committees focused on 

Asian American candidates and issues. 

5. I have also served as a Commissioner on the State Bar’s Commission on Judicial 

Nominees Evaluation and on Senator Barbara Boxer’s Judicial Screening 

Committee (which makes recommendations for federal judicial appointments). 

6. I am not a party in this action.  I make this Declaration of my own personal 

knowledge.  If called as a witness, I could and would testify competently to the 

truth of the matters set forth in this Declaration.   

MY SUPPORT FOR CONGRESSMEMBER HONDA 

7. I am a longtime friend and supporter of Congressmember Mike Honda, and have 

made donations to Mike Honda for Congress. 

RO KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

8. On Saturday, Oct. 3, 2015, 3:15 pm, I received an email that was sent, as a blind- 

carbon copy, to my office email address.  That email was sent by Mr. Khanna from 

his personal email account. 

9. I have attached, as Exhibit 1, a true and correct copy of Mr. Khanna’s email (the 

email addresses of Mr. Khanna and myself have been redacted). 

10. In his email, Mr. Khanna asked if I “might have time for a call” to discuss his race 

against Congressmember Honda. 

11. In that same email, Mr. Khanna further stated that “Honda’s ethics scandal has 

convinced many voters about the need for change.”  Mr. Khanna’s email also 

contained, under the heading of “Recent Press”, links to a number of pieces that 

were critical of Congressmember Honda. 

MY SURPRISE AT RECEIVING MR. KHANNA’S EMAIL SOLICITATION 

12. I was surprised to receive Mr. Khanna’s email solicitation.  I have no friendship or 

personal relationship with him, and I neither live nor work in Congressional 

District 17. 
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13. Around 2007, I met Mr. Khanna in passing at a scholarship event.  Prior to 

receiving Mr. Khanna’s email, I had not met, spoken with, corresponded with, or 

otherwise reached out to him and have not had any other contact with him to my 

recollection during any of his campaigns since that one encounter in 2004. 

14. I have never made any donation to any of Ro Khanna’s campaigns to my 

recollection.  I do not recall ever sharing either my office or personal email address 

with Mr. Khanna or any of his campaigns. 

 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on  

Sept. 21, 2016.   

 

                                                  

      By:  /s/ Dale Minami    

             DALE MINAMI 
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  REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE 

 

GAUTAM DUTTA (State Bar No. 199326) 
BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION LAW, PC 
5655 Silver Creek Valley Rd # 900 
San Jose, CA  95138 
Telephone:  415.236.2048 
Email:  Dutta@BusinessandElectionLaw.com 
Fax:  213.405.2416 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
HONDA FOR CONGRESS 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SAN JOSE DIVISION 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

BRIAN PARVIZSHAHI, et al. 
                    

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  
 
JUDGE:  TBD 

 
       

PLAINTIFF MIKE HONDA FOR 
CONGRESS’ REQUEST FOR 
JUDICIAL NOTICE  

 
 
HEARING DATE:  TBD 
 

  

 
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. Documents for Which Judicial Notice Is Requested 

Plaintiff Mike Honda for Congress respectfully asks the Court to take judicial notice of 

the following documents: 

1. Salary information for Brian Parvizshahi in Federal Election Commission Campaign 

Finance Disclosure Portal’s report of Rohit Khanna’s Candidate Operating Expenditures 

(hereinafter, the “Parvizshahi Salary Records”, attached as Exhibit 1 to the accompanying 

Declaration of Robert Eberhardt) (downloaded from www.fec.gov).   
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2. Contribution record of Garnetta Annable from Federal Election Commission’s website, 

attached as Exhibit 2 to the accompanying Declaration of Garnetta Annable (downloaded 

on September 13, 2016 from http://www.fec.gov/finance/dislcosure/norindsea.shtml) 

3. LinkedIn profile of Brian Parvizshahi, attached as Exhibit 2 to the accompanying 

Declaration of Michael Beckendorf (downloaded from 

http://www.linkedin.com/in/brianparvi (last visited Sept. 17, 2016). 

II. Relevance of Proffered Documents 

 The Parvizshahi Salary Records are relevant to this litigation, for they show that 

Defendant Brian Parvizshahi was employed by Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. when he 

repeatedly accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary data. 

 The contribution records of Garnetta Annable are relevant to this litigation, for they show 

that the Federal Election Commission had no record of any federal campaign contribution from 

Ms. Annable until May 28, 2016.   

 Brian Parvizshahi’s LinkedIn profile is relevant, for it shows that Mr. Parvizshahi (1) was 

already employed by Defendant Ro for Congress, Inc. when he repeatedly accessed Mike Honda 

for Congress’ confidential, proprietary data, (2) was working as Ro for Congress, Inc.’s Data 

Director when he repeatedly accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary data, 

and (3) was promoted to Campaign Manager and was working as Campaign Manager for Ro for 

Congress, Inc. when he repeatedly accessed Mike Honda for Congress’ confidential, proprietary 

data. 

III. The Court May Take Judicial Notice under FRE 201 

A court must take judicial notice if requested by a party and supplied with the necessary 

information.  Federal Rule of Evidence §201(b); see also U.S. v. Ritchie, 342 F.3d 903, 909 (9th 

Cir. 2003).  Courts regularly takes judicial notice of facts from court documents. “[T]he most 

frequent use of judicial notice of ascertainable facts is in noticing the content of court records.” 

Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Coil, 887 F.2d 1236, 1239 (4th Cir. 1989) (italics added). 

Accordingly, the Ninth Circuit has held that it “may take notice of proceedings in other 
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courts, both within and without the federal judicial system, if those proceedings have a direct 

relation to matters at issue.” U.S. ex rel. Robinson Rancheria Citizens Council v. Borneo, Inc., 

971 F.2d 244, 248 (9th Cir. 1992) (citations and internal quotations omitted). 

Here, the Parvizshahi Salary Records, contribution records of Garnetta Annable, and 

LinkedIn profile of Brian Parvizshahi are relevant to this action.  Accordingly, the Court may take 

judicial notice of the aforementioned documents. 
 
 
 
DATED:  Sept. 22, 2016 
 

BUSINESS, ENERGY, AND ELECTION 
LAW, PC 

By:  /s/ 
GAUTAM DUTTA, ESQ. 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

MIKE HONDA FOR CONGRESS 
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